

**Dirk Mateer** 

Lee Coppock

**Second Edition** 

### **Second Edition**

**Dirk Mateer** University of Arizona

Lee Coppock University of Virginia



W. W. Norton & Company has been independent since its founding in 1923, when William Warder Norton and Mary D. Herter Norton first published lectures delivered at the People's Institute, the adult education division of New York City's Cooper Union. The firm soon expanded its program beyond the Institute, publishing books by celebrated academics from America and abroad. By midcentury, the two major pillars of Norton's publishing program—trade books and college texts—were firmly established. In the 1950s, the Norton family transferred control of the company to its employees, and today—with a staff of four hundred and a comparable number of trade, college, and professional titles published each year—W. W. Norton & Company stands as the largest and oldest publishing house owned wholly by its employees.

Copyright © 2018, 2014 by W. W. Norton & Company, Inc.

All rights reserved. Printed in Canada.

Editor: Eric Svendsen

Developmental Editor: Steven Rigolosi

Manuscript Editor: Janet Greenblatt

Project Editor: Melissa Atkin

Media Editor: Miryam Chandler

Associate Media Editor: Victoria Reuter

Editorial Assistant: Lindsey Osteen

Media Editorial Assistant: Sam Glass

Marketing Manager, Economics: Janise Turso

Production Manager: Eric Pier-Hocking

Photo Editor: Nelson Colón

Photo Researcher: Dena Digilio Betz

Permissions Associate: Elizabeth Trammell

Text Design: Lisa Buckley

Art Director: Rubina Yeh

Cover Design and "Snapshot" Infographics: Kiss Me I'm Polish

Composition: Jouve

Manufacturing: Courier Kendallville

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Names: Mateer, G. Dirk, author. | Coppock, Lee, author. Title: Principles of economics / Dirk Mateer, University of Arizona, Lee Coppock, University of Virginia. Description: Second edition. | New York: W.W. Norton & Company, [2017] | Includes index. Identifiers: LCCN 2016027501 | **ISBN 9780393264579 (hardcover)** Subjects: LCSH: Economics. Classification: LCC HB171.5 .M435 2017 | DDC 330–dc23 LC record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2016027501

This edition: ISBN 978-0-393-26457-9 (hardcover) W. W. Norton & Company, Inc., 500 Fifth Avenue, New York, NY 10110-0017

W. W. Norton & Company Ltd., 15 Carlisle Street, London W1D 3BS wwnorton.com

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 0

In memory of our editor, Jack Repcheck, whose zest for life was contagious. Thanks for believing in us and challenging us to share our passion for economic education with others.

D.M and L.C.

## **BRIEF CONTENTS**

### **PART I Introduction**

- **1** Five Foundations of Economics 4
- 2 Model Building and Gains from Trade 26

### PART II The Role of Markets

- **3** The Market at Work: Supply and Demand 70
- 4 Elasticity 110
- 5 Market Outcomes and Tax Incidence 150
- 6 Price Controls 184
- 7 Market Inefficiencies: Externalities and Public Goods 214

~ • •

### PART III The Theory of the Firm

8	Business Costs and Production 244	
9	Firms in a Competitive Market 274	
10	Understanding Monopoly 308	
11	Price Discrimination 338	
12	Monopolistic Competition and Advertising	362
13	Oligopoly and Strategic Behavior 390	

### **PART IV Labor Markets and Earnings**

- **14** The Demand and Supply of Resources 430
- **15** Income, Inequality, and Poverty 466

### PART V Special Topics in Microeconomics

- **16** Consumer Choice 504
- **17** Behavioral Economics and Risk Taking 540
- **18** Health Insurance and Health Care 562

### PART VI Macroeconomic Basics

- **19** Introduction to Macroeconomics and Gross Domestic Product 596
- 20 Unemployment 634
- **21** The Price Level and Inflation 664

- 22 Savings, Interest Rates, and the Market for Loanable Funds 698
- 23 Financial Markets and Securities 728

### PART VII The Long and Short of Macroeconomics

- 24 Economic Growth and the Wealth of Nations 756
- **25** Growth Theory 790
- 26 The Aggregate Demand–Aggregate Supply Model 824
- 27 The Great Recession, the Great Depression, and Great Macroeconomic Debates 860

### **PART VIII Fiscal Policy**

- **28** Federal Budgets: The Tools of Fiscal Policy 902
- 29 Fiscal Policy 930

### PART IX Monetary Policy

- **30** Money and the Federal Reserve 962
- **31** Monetary Policy 994

### **PART X International Economics**

- **32** International Trade 1030
- **33** International Finance 1058

# CONTENTS

Preface xxxi Acknowledgments xlv About the Authors I

### **PART I Introduction**



### **1** Five Foundations of Economics 4

### **Big Questions** 6

What Is Economics?	6	
Microeconomics and	d Macroeconomics	7

### What Are Five Foundations of Economics? 7 Incentives 7

Incentives

Practice What You Know: Microeconomics and Macroeconomics: The Big Picture 8

Economics in the Real World: How Incentives Create Unintended Consequences 10

Economics in the Media: Incentives: *Ferris Bueller's Day Off* 12 Trade-offs 12 Opportunity Cost 13

Practice What You Know: The Opportunity Cost of Attending College 14

Economics in the Real World: Breaking the Curse of the Bambino: How Opportunity Cost Causes a Drop in Hospital Visits When the Red Sox Play 15

15

Marginal Thinking

Economics in the Real World: Why Buying and Selling Your Textbooks Benefits You at the Margin 16 Trade 17

**Conclusion** 20

**SNAPSHOT:** Five Foundations of Economics 21 **ECONOMICS FOR LIFE:** Midcareer Earnings by Selected Majors 22

Answering the Big Questions 23

Concepts You Should Know24Questions for Review24Study Problems24Solved Problems25

### 2 Model Building and Gains from Trade 26

**Big Questions** 28

How Do Economists Study the Economy? 28

The Scientific Method in Economics28Positive and Normative Analysis29Economic Models30Practice What You Know: Positive versus NormativeStatements32

What Is a Production Possibilities Frontier? 33	Practice What You Know: Trade-offs 50
The Production Possibilities Frontier and	Conclusion 50
The Production Possibilities Frontier and Economic Growth 36	<b>ECONOMICS FOR LIFE:</b> Failing to Account for Exogenous Factors When Making Predictions 51
Practice What You Know: The Production Possibilities Frontier: Bicycles and Cars 38	Answering the Big Questions52Concepts You Should Know53
What Are the Benefits of Specialization and Trade? 39	Questions for Review 53 Study Problems 53 Solved Problems 55
Comparative Advantage 41	Appendix 2A: Graphs in Economics 57
Finding the Right Price to Facilitate Trade 43	<b>Graphs That Consist of One Variable</b> 57 Time-Series Graphs 59
Someone Else Help Him Move 44 Practice What You Know: Opportunity Cost 45	<b>Graphs That Consist of Two Variables</b> 59 The Slope of a Curve 61
Economics in the Media: Opportunity Cost: <i>Saving</i> <i>Private Ryan</i> 46	Formulas for the Area of a Rectangle and a Triangle 64
What Is the Trade-off between Having More Now and Having More Later? 46 Consumer Goods, Capital Goods, and Investment 47	Concepts You Should Know 67 Study Problems 67 Solved Problems 67

**PART II The Role of Markets** 

Economics in the Media: The Trade-off between the Short

49

Run and the Long Run: A Knight's Tale

### **3** The Market at Work: Supply and Demand 70

#### **Big Questions** 72

Investment

What Are the Fundamentals of Markets? 72

**Competitive Markets** 73

Imperfect Markets 74

Practice What You Know: Markets and the Nature of Competition 75

#### **What Determines Demand?** 75

76 The Demand Curve Market Demand 77 Shifts of the Demand Curve 78



Economics in the Media: Shifting the Demand Curve: The Hudsucker Proxy 82

Practice What You Know: Shift of the Curve or Movement along the Curve 83

What Determines Supply? 85 The Supply Curve 85

Market Supply 87 Shifts of the Supply Curve

Economics in the Real World: Why Do the Prices of New Electronics Always Drop? 92

88

Practice What You Know: Ice cream: Supply and Demand 93

### How Do Supply and Demand Interact to Create Equilibrium 94

Supply, Demand, and Equilibrium 94

### Conclusion

**ECONOMICS FOR LIFE:** Bringing Supply and Demand Together: Advice for Buying Your First Home 98

Answering the Big Questions 99

97

Concepts You Should Know100Questions For Review100Study Problems100Solved Problems103

Appendix 3A: Changes in Both Demand and<br/>Supply104Practice What You Know: When Supply and Demand Both Change:<br/>Hybrid CarsHybrid Cars107Economics in the Real World: Polar Vortex Economics108Questions for Review109Study Problems109Solved Problem109

### 4 Elasticity 110

### **Big Questions** 112

What Is the Price Elasticity of Demand, and What Are Its
Determinants? 112
Determinants of the Price Elasticity of Demand 112
Computing the Price Elasticity of Demand 115
Economics in the Media: Price Elasticity of Demand: <i>The Big Bang Theory</i> 117
Graphing the Price Elasticity of Demand 119 Price Elasticity of Demand and Total Revenue 126
Economics in the Media: Elasticity and Total Revenue: D'oh! The Simpsons and Total Revenue 128
Practice What You Know: Price Elasticity of Demand 129
SNAPSHOT: Price Elasticity of Demand 131
How Do Changes in Income and the Prices of OtherGoods Affect Elasticity?132Income Elasticity132
Cross-Price Elasticity 133

Economics in the Real World: Tennis, Anyone? 135
Practice What You Know: Income Elasticity 136
What Is the Price Elasticity of Supply?137Determinants of the Price Elasticity of Supply137The Flexibility of Producers138Time and the Adjustment Process138
Practice What You Know: The Price Elasticity of Supply 140
How Do the Price Elasticities of Demand and Supply Relate to Each Other? 141
Practice What You Know: Elasticity: Trick or Treat Edition 142
Conclusion143ECONOMICS FOR LIFE: Price Elasticity of Supply and Demand: Buying Your First Car144Answering the Big Questions145
Concepts You Should Know147Questions for Review147Study Problems147Solved Problems149

### 5 Market Outcomes and Tax Incidence 150

### Big Questions 152

### What Are Consumer Surplus and Producer Surplus? 152

Consumer Surplus153Using Demand Curves to Illustrate ConsumerSurplus153Producer Surplus155Using Supply Curves to Illustrate ProducerSurplus156

Practice What You Know: Consumer and Producer Surplus: Trendy Fashion 158

### When Is a Market Efficient? 158

The Efficiency-Equity Debate 160

Economics in the Media: Efficiency: *Old School* 161

Practice What You Know: Total Surplus: How Would Lower Consumer Income Affect Urban Outfitters? 162

# Why Do Taxes Create Deadweight Loss in OtherwiseEfficient Markets?Tax Incidence163

Deadweight Loss 166

Economics in the Media: Taxing Inelastic Goods: "Taxman," by the Beatles 167

Economics in the Real World: The Short-Lived Luxury Tax 173

Balancing Deadweight Loss and Tax Revenues 174

SNAPSHOT: Unusual Taxes 176

Practice What You Know: Deadweight Loss of Taxation: The Politics of Tax Rates 177

### Conclusion 177

Answering the Big Questions 178

ECONOMICS FOR LIFE: Excise Taxes Are Almost Impossible to Avoid 179 Concepts You Should Know 180 Questions for Review 180 Study Problems 180 Solved Problems 183

### 6 Price Controls 184

Big Questions 186

### When Do Price Ceilings Matter?

Understanding Price Ceilings 186

The Effect of Price Ceilings188

Price Ceilings in the Long Run 190

Economics in the Media: Price Ceilings: *Moscow on the Hudson* 191

186

Practice What You Know: Price Ceilings: Concert Tickets 192

### What Effects Do Price Ceilings Have on Economic Activity? 192

Rent Control 192 Price Gouging 194

Practice What You Know: Price Ceilings: Student Rental Apartments 196

### When Do Price Floors Matter? 196

Understanding Price Floors 197 The Effect of Price Floors 197 Price Floors in the Long Run 200 Practice What You Know: Price Floors: Fair-Trade Coffee 201 Price Floors Have on Factors

### What Effects Do Price Floors Have on EconomicActivity?202

The Minimum Wage 202

Economics in the Real World: Wage Laws Squeeze South Africa's Poor 203

The Minimum Wage Is Often Nonbinding 204

### **SNAPSHOT:** Minimum Wage: Always the Same? 205

Economics in the Real World: A Sweet Deal, If You Can Get It 206

Practice What You Know: Price Ceilings and Price Floors: Would a Price Control on Internet Access Be Effective? 207

Conclusion209Answering the Big Questions209

**ECONOMICS FOR LIFE:** Price Gouging: Disaster

Preparedness210Concepts You Should Know211Questions for Review211Study Problems211Solved Problems212

### 7 Market Inefficiencies: Externalities and Public Goods 214

### **Big Questions** 216

### What Are Externalities, and How Do They Affect Markets? 216

The Third-Party Problem 216

Economics in the Real World: Express Lanes Use Dynamic Pricing to Ease Congestion 220

Practice What You Know: Externalities: Fracking 223

What Are Private Goods and Public Goods?224Private Property224

Private and Public Goods 226

Economics in the Real World: Group Work 228

Practice What You Know: Public Goods: Are Parks Public Goods? 230

What Are the Challenges of Providing Nonexcludable Goods? 231

Cost-Benefit Analysis 231

Economics in the Real World: Internet Piracy232Common Resources and the Tragedy of the<br/>Commons232Possible Solutions to the Tragedy of the<br/>Commons234

Economics in the Real World: Deforestation in Haiti 235

Practice What You Know: Common Resources: Why do Tailgaters Trash Parking Lots? 236

Economics in the Media: Tragedy of the Commons: *South Park* and Water Parks 236

**ECONOMICS FOR LIFE:** Buying Used Is Good for Your Wallet and for the Environment 237

### Conclusion 237

Answering the Big Questions238Concepts You Should Know239Questions for Review239Study Problems239Solved Problems241

### **PART III The Theory of the Firm**

### 8 Business Costs and Production 244

**Big Questions** 246

How Are Profits and Losses Calculated?246Calculating Profit and Loss246Explicit Costs and Implicit Costs247



#### **xiv** / Contents

Practice What You Know: Accounting Profit versus Economic Profit: Calculating Summer Job Profits 250

How Much Should a Firm Produce?251The Production Function251Diminishing Marginal Product253

What Costs Do Firms Consider in the Short Run and the Long Run? 254

Practice What You Know: Diminishing Returns: Snow ConeProduction255Costs in the Short Run256

Economics in the Media: Costs in the Short Run: *The Office* 261 Costs in the Long Run 261

### SNAPSHOT: Bigger Is Not Always Better 265

Economics in the Media: Economies of Scale *The Big Bang Theory*: The Work Song Nanocluster 266

### Conclusion 266

Practice What You Know: Marginal Cost: The True Cost of Admission to Universal Studios 267

### Answering the Big Questions 268

ECONOMICS FOR LIFE: How Much Does It Cost to Raise a Child? 269 Concepts You Should Know 270 Questions for Review 270 Study Problems 270 Solved Problems 273

### **9** Firms in a Competitive Market 274

### Big Questions 276

### How Do Competitive Markets Work? 276

Economics in the Real World: Aalsmeer Flower Auction 278

### How Do Firms Maximize Profits? 278

Practice What You Know: Price Takers: Mall Food Courts 279

The Profit-Maximizing Rule 279

Economics in the Media: Competitive Markets: *The Simpsons*: "Mr. Plow" 282

Deciding How Much to Produce in a Competitive Market 282

The Firm in the Short Run 284

The Firm's Short-Run Supply Curve 286

The Firm's Long-Run Supply Curve 286

Economics in the Real World: Blockbuster, Changes in Technology, and the Dynamic Nature of Change 288 Sunk Costs 289

Practice What You Know: The Profit-Maximizing Rule: Show Me the Money! 290

SNAPSHOT: Sunk Costs: If You Build It, They Will Come 291

### What Does the Supply Curve Look Like in Perfectly Competitive Markets? 292

The Short-Run Market Supply Curve292The Long-Run Market Supply Curve293How the Market Adjusts in the Long Run: AnExample295

Economics in the Media: Entry and Exit: *I Love Lucy* 299

Practice What You Know: Long-Run Profits: How Much Can a Firm Expect to Make? 300

### Conclusion 300

Answering the Big Questions 301

ECONOMICS FOR LIFE: Tips for Starting Your Own Business 302 Concepts You Should Know 303 Questions for Review 303 Study Problems 303 Solved Problems 306

### **10** Understanding Monopoly 308

#### **Big Questions** 310

How Are Monopolies Created	<b>?</b> 310
Natural Barriers 310	
Government-Created Ba	rriers 311
Economics in the Real World	: Merck's Zocor 313

### How Much Do Monopolies Charge, and How Much Do They Produce? 313

Practice What You Know: Monopoly: Can You Spot the Monopolist? 314

Economics in the Media: Barriers to Entry: *Forrest Gump* 315

The Profit-Maximizing Rule for the Monopolist 316

Economics in the Real World: The Broadband Monopoly 320

Practice What You Know: Monopoly Profits: How Much Do Monopolists Make? 322

#### What Are the Problems with, and Solutions for, Monopoly? 322 The Problems with Monopoly 323 Practice What You Know: Problems with Monopoly: Coffee Consolidation 326 Economics in the Real World: New York City Taxis 327 328 Solutions to the Problems of Monopoly Economics in the Media: The Problems of Monopoly: One-328 Man Band **SNAPSHOT:** The Demise of a Monopoly 331 Conclusion 333 **Answering the Big Questions** 333 **ECONOMICS FOR LIFE:** Playing Monopoly Like an Economist 334 Concepts You Should Know 335 **Questions for Review** 335 Study Problems 335 Solved Problems 337

### **11** Price Discrimination 338

Big Questions 340

What Is Price Discrimination? 340		
Conditions for Price Discrimination	340	
One Price versus Price Discrimination	341	
The Welfare Effects of Price Discrimina	tion	344
Economics in the Real World: Santa Fe, New N Negative Incentives as Price Discrimination	Aexico: Us 345	ing
Economics in the Media: Perfect Price Discrim Legally Blonde 347	ination:	
Economics in the Real World: Outlet Malls—I They Will Come 348	f You Buil	d It,
Practice What You Know: Price Discrimination Economics to New Heights 349	: Taking	

How Is Price Discrimination Practiced? 351
Price Discrimination at the Movies 351
Price Discrimination on Campus 352
SNAPSHOT: Now Playing: Economics! 354
Practice What You Know: Price Discrimination in Practice: Everyday Examples 355
Economics in the Media: Price Discrimination: <i>Extreme Couponing</i> 356
Conclusion 356
Answering the Big Questions 357
ECONOMICS FOR LIFE: Outsmarting Grocery Store Tactics 358
Concepts You Should Know 359
Questions for Review 359
Study Problems 359
Solved Problems 360

### **12** Monopolistic Competition and Advertising 362

### Big Questions 364

### What Is Monopolistic Competition? 364

Product Differentiation 365

Practice What You Know: Product Differentiation: Would You Recognize a Monopolistic Competitor? 366

### What Are the Differences among Monopolistic Competition, Competitive Markets, and

Monopoly?367Monopolistic Competition in the Short Run and<br/>the Long Run367Monopolistic Competition and Competitive<br/>Markets370Monopolistic Competition, Inefficiency, and<br/>Social Welfare372Practice What You Know: Markup: Punch Pizza<br/>versus Pizza Hut374

### Why Is Advertising Prevalent in Monopolistic Competition? 375

Economics in the Media: Advertising: Super Bowl Commercials 375

Why Firms Advertise 376 Advertising in Different Markets 376 Economics in the Media: Advertising: E.T.: The Extra-Terrestrial 379 **SNAPSHOT:** Advertising and the Super Bowl 380 Economics in the Real World: What Happened to Sears? 381 The Negative Effects of Advertising 381 Practice What You Know: Advertising: Brands versus Generics 383 Economics in the Real World- The Federal Trade Commission versus Kevin Trudeau 385 **ECONOMICS FOR LIFE:** Product Differentiation: Would You Buy a Franchise? 386 Conclusion 386 **Answering the Big Questions** 387 Concepts You Should Know 388

Questions for Review388Study Problems388Solved Problems389

# **13** Oligopoly and Strategic Behavior 390

### Big Questions 392

### What Is Oligopoly? 392

Measuring the Concentration of Industries392Collusion and Cartels in a Simple DuopolyExample394

Economics in the Real World: OPEC: An International Cartel 397

Economics in the Media: Nash Equilibrium: *A Brilliant Madness* and *A Beautiful Mind* 398

Oligopoly with More Than Two Firms 399

Practice What You Know: Oligopoly: Can You Recognize the Oligopolist? 399

### How Does Game Theory Explain Strategic

**Behavior?** 400 Strategic Behavior and the Dominant

Strategy 400 Duopoly and the Prisoner's Dilemma 402 Economics in the Media: Prisoner's Dilemma: *Murder by* Numbers 403 404 Advertising and Game Theory **SNAPSHOT:** Airlines in the Prisoner's Dilemma 405 Economics in the Real World: The Cold War 406 Escaping the Prisoner's Dilemma in the Long Run 406

Economics in the Media: Prisoner's Dilemma: *The Dark Knight* 408

Sequential Games 409

A Caution about Game Theory 410

Practice What You Know: Dominant Strategy: To Advertise or Not—That Is the Question! 411

### How Do Government Policies Affect Oligopoly Behavior? 412

Antitrust Policy 413 Predatory Pricing 413 Practice What You Know: Predatory Pricing: Price Wars 415

What Are Network Externalities? 416

Practice What You Know: Examples of Network Externalities 417

#### ECONOMICS FOR LIFE: Should You Buy Now or Wait? 418 Conclusion 418 **Answering the Big Questions** 419 Concepts You Should Know 421 Questions for Review 421 Study Problems 421 Solved Problems 424 Appendix 13A: Two Alternative Theories of Pricing **Behavior** 425 The Kinked Demand Curve 425 Price Leadership 425 Concepts You Should Know 427 Study Problems 427

### **PART IV Labor Markets and Earnings**



# **14** The Demand and Supply of Resources 430

### Big Questions 432

### What Are the Factors of Production? 432

Practice What You Know: Derived Demand: Tip Income 433

### Where Does the Demand for Labor Come From?

The Marginal Product of Labor 434 Changes in the Demand for Labor 436

Practice What You Know: Value of the Marginal Product of Labor: Flower Barrettes 438

### Where Does the Supply of Labor Come From? 438

The Labor-Leisure Trade-off439Changes in the Supply of Labor440

Economics in the Media: Immigration: *A Day without a Mexican* 442

Practice What You Know: The Labor Supply Curve: What Would You Do with a Big Raise? 443

### What Are the Determinants of Demand and Supply in the Labor Market? 444

How Does the Market for Labor Reach Equilibrium? 444

Economics in the Real World: Where Are the Nurses? 445

Change and Equilibrium in the Labor Market 446

Outsourcing 446

433

Economics in the Real World: Pregnancy Becomes the Latest Job to Be Outsourced to India 448 Monopsony 451 Economics in the Real World: Pay and Performance in Major League Baseball 451

### What Role Do Land and Capital Play in Production? 452

Practice What You Know: Labor Supply: Changes in LaborSupply453The Market for Land453Economics in the Media: Value of the Marginal Product ofLabor: Moneyball454

The Market for Capital456When to Use More Labor, Land, or Capital456SNAPSHOT: Outsourcing457

### Economics in the Real World: Skilled Work without the Worker 458

### Conclusion 459

Practice What You Know: Bang for the Buck: When to Use More Capital or More Labor 460

### Answering the Big Questions 461

### ECONOMICS FOR LIFE: Will Your Future Job Be Outsourced? 462 Concepts You Should Know 463 Questions for Review 463 Study Problems 463

Solved Problems 465

### **15** Income, Inequality, and Poverty 466

### Big Questions 468

### What Are the Determinants of Wages? 468

The Non-Monetary Determinants of Wages 468 Economics in the Real World: Does Education *Really* Pay? 469

Wage Discrimination 472

Practice What You Know: Efficiency Wages: Which Company Pays an Efficiency Wage? 473

Economics in the Real World: The Effects of Beauty on Earnings 475

Economics in the Media: Wage Discrimination: *Anchorman: The Legend of Ron Burgundy* 478 Winner-Take-All 478

### What Causes Income Inequality? 479

Factors That Lead to Income Inequality479Economics in the Real World: 5th Pillar481Measuring Income Inequality481Income Mobility487

**SNAPSHOT:** Income Inequality around the World 488 Practice What You Know: Income Inequality: The Beginning and End of Inequality 489

Economics in the Media: Income Inequality: *Capital in the Twenty-First Century* 490

### How Do Economists Analyze Poverty? 491

The Poverty Rate491Poverty Policy492

Economics in the Media: Poverty: *The Hunger Games* (2008-2010) 494

Problems with Traditional Aid 495

Economics in the Real World: Muhammad Yunus and the Grameen Bank 495

Practice What You Know: Samaritan's Dilemma: Does Welfare Cause Unemployment? 496

**ECONOMICS FOR LIFE:** Donating to Charity More Effectively 497

### Conclusion 498

Answering the Big Questions 498

Concepts You Should Know500Questions for Review500Study Problems500Solved Problems501

### **PART V Special Topics in Microeconomics**



### **16** Consumer Choice 504

### **Big Questions** 506

### How Do Economists Model Consumer Satisfaction? 506

Economics in the Real World: Happiness Index 507 Total Utility and Marginal Utility 507 509 Diminishing Marginal Utility Practice What You Know: Diminishing Marginal 509 Utility How Do Consumers Optimize Their Purchasing **Decisions?** 510 **Consumer Purchasing Decisions** 511 **SNAPSHOT:** The OECD Better Life Index 513 Marginal Thinking with More Than Two Goods 514 Price Changes and the Consumer Optimum 514 Economics in the Real World: Would You Pay More Than \$50 for a Drink at Starbucks? 516 Practice What You Know: Consumer Optimum 516

### What Is the Diamond-Water Paradox? 517

Economics in the Media: The Diamond-Water Paradox: *Super Size Me* 519

Conclusion 519
Answering the Big Questions 520
<b>ECONOMICS FOR LIFE:</b> The economics of Romance: When Do You Know You've Found the "Right" Person? 522
Concepts You Should Know 523
Questions for Review 523
Study Problems 523
Solved Problems 525
Appendix 16A: Indifference Curve Analysis         526
Indifference Curves 526
Economic "Goods" and "Bads" 526
The Budget Constraint 528
Properties of Indifference Curves 529
Indifference Curves Are Typically Bowed Inward 529
Indifference Curves Cannot Be Thick 530
Indifference Curves Cannot Intersect 531
Extreme Preferences: Perfect Substitutes and Perfect Complements 532
Using Indifference Curves to Illustrate the Consumer
<b>Dptimum</b> 534
Using Indifference Curves to Illustrate the
Real-Income and Substitution Effects 535
Real-Income Effect 536
Conclusion 538
Concepts You Should Know 539
Questions for Review 539
Study Problems 539
Solved Problem 539

### **17** Behavioral Economics and Risk Taking 540

### Big Questions 542

How Do Economists Explain Irrational Behavior? 542 Misperceptions of Probabilities 543 Economics in the Real World: New Behavioral Economics Helps to Explain Stock Price Volatility 545 Practice What You Know: Gambler's Fallacy or Hot Hand Fallacy? Patterns on Exams 546 Inconsistencies in Decision-Making 546 Economics in the Media: Misperceptions of Probabilities:  $\pi$ 547 Economics in the Real World: Are You An Organ Donor? 548 **SNAPSHOT:** Opt-Out Is Optimal 549 Judgments about Fairness 550 Economics in the Real World: Unfair Pay Matters to

Capuchin Monkeys 552

### What Is the Role of Risk in Decision-Making? 552 Preference Reversals 552

Economics in the Media: Preference Reversals: "Mine" 554

Prospect Theory 555

Practice What You Know: Risk Aversion: Risk-Taking Behavior 556

Economics in the Real World: Why Are There Cold Openings at the Box Office? 556

### Conclusion 557

**ECONOMICS FOR LIFE:** Bounded Rationality: How to Guard Yourself against Crime 558

### Answering the Big Questions 558

Concepts You Should Know560Questions for Review560Study Problems560Solved Problems561

# **18** Health Insurance and Health Care 562

### **Big Questions** 564

### What Are the Important Issues in the Healthcare Industry? 564

The History of U.S. Healthcare564Healthcare Expenditures565Diminishing Returns567Who's Who in Health Care, and How DoesInsurance Work?568Medical Costs570

Practice What You Know: Physical Fitness 571

### How Does Asymmetric Information Affect Healthcare Delivery? 571

Adverse Selection572The Principal-Agent Problem572Moral Hazard573

Economics in the Media	: Moral Hazard:
"King-Size Homer"	573

Practice What You Know: Asymmetric Information 574

### How Do Demand and Supply Contribute to High Medical Costs? 574

Healthcare Demand 575

Economics in the Media: Inelastic Healthcare Demand: *John Q* 576

Healthcare Supply 577

Economics in the Real World: Medical Tourism 579

Practice What You Know: Demand for Health Care: How Would Universal Health Care Alter the Demand for Medical Care? 580

How Do	Incentives	Influence	the Qu	uality of	Health	
Care?	580					
Singl	e-Payer ve	rsus Priva	te He	alth Ca	re	581

**SNAPSHOT:** Health: United States vs. Canada 582

Economics in the Real World: Health Care in France 583

The Human Organ Shortage 584

Economics in the Real World: Selling Ova to Pay for College 586

Practice What You Know: Human Organ Shortage: Liver Transplants 586

Economics in the Media: The Human Organ Black Market: *Law & Order: Special Victims Unit* 587

Conclusion	587			
ECONOMICS F	OR LIFE: C	)bamac	are: A Primer	588
Answering the	<b>Big Quest</b>	ions	589	
Concepts You Shou	uld Know	591		
Questions for Revi	ew 591	l		
Study Problems	591			
Solved Problems	593			

### PART VI Macroeconomic Basics

### **19** Introduction to Macroeconomics and Gross Domestic Product 596

**Big Questions** 598

How Is Macroeconomics Different from Microeconomics? 598

What Does GDP Tell Us about the Economy? 599 Production Equals Income 599 Three Uses of GDP Data 600 Practice What You Know: Three Uses of GDP Data: GDP as an Economic Barometer 605 **How Is GDP Computed?** 606 606 **Counting Market Values** Including Goods and Services 607 Including Only Final Goods and Services 608 Within a Country 609 Including Only Production from a Particular Period 610 Looking at GDP as Different Types of Expenditures 610 Real GDP: Adjusting GDP for Price 613 Changes 615 Growth Rates Practice What You Know: Computing Real and Nominal GDP Growth: GDP Growth in Mexico 617 **SNAPSHOT:** Minimum wage: Always the Same? 618 What Are Some Shortcomings of GDP Data? 620 Nonmarket Goods 620



Underground Economy 620 Economics in the Real World: Sex, Drugs, and GDP in Europe 621 Quality of the Environment 623 Leisure Time 623 Economics in the Media: The Underground Economy: Traffic 624 **GDP** and Happiness 624 Why Do Economists Continue to Rely on GDP Data? 627 Practice What You Know: Shortcomings of GDP Data: Use Caution in Interpreting GDP as an Economic Barometer 627 Conclusion 628 **Answering the Big Questions** 628 **ECONOMICS FOR LIFE:** Economic Growth Statistics: **Deciphering Data Reports** 629 Concepts You Should Know 630 Questions for Review 630 Study Problems 630

Solved Problems

632

#### **20** Unemployment 634

#### **Big Questions** 636

### What Are the Major Reasons for

**Unemployment?** 636 Structural Unemployment 636 Economics in the Real World: Americans Don't Appear to Want Farmwork 639 640 Frictional Unemployment Economics in the Real World: Employment, Italian Style 643 644 Cyclical Unemployment The Natural Rate of Unemployment 645 What Can We Learn from the Employment Data?

Practice What You Know: Three Types of Unemployment: Which Type Is It? 647

646

#### The Unemployment Rate 647 Economics in the Media: Structural Unemployment: The Office 650 Other Labor Market Indicators 652 **SNAPSHOT:** Unemployment and the Labor Force 654 Practice What You Know: Unemployment and Labor Force Participation Rates: Can You Compute the Rates? 657 Conclusion 657 **Answering the Big Questions** 658 **ECONOMICS FOR LIFE:** Finish Your Degree! 659 Concepts You Should Know 660 Questions for Review 660 Study Problems 660 Solved Problems

### **21** The Price Level and Inflation 664

#### **Big Questions** 666

How Is Inflation Measured?666The Consumer Price Index (CPI)667	
Economics in the Real World: Sleuthing for Prices	670
Measuring Inflation Rates 670	
Economics in the Real World: Prices Don't All Move Together 672	
Using the CPI to Equate Dollar Values over Time 673	
SNAPSHOT: Inflation and the Consumer Price Index 674	
Economics in the Real World: Which Movies Are Most Popular? 676	
The Accuracy of the CPI 676	
Economics in the Media: Equating Dollar Values through Time: Austin Powers: International Man of Mystery	ו 678

Economics in the Real World: The Billion Prices Project 680

661

Practice What You Know: Using the CPI to Equate Prices over Time: How Cheap Were the First Super Bowl Tickets? 681

#### What Problems Does Inflation Bring? 681

Shoe-Leather Costs 681 682 Money Illusion Menu Costs 683 Future Price Level Uncertainty 684 Wealth Redistribution 685 Price Confusion 685 Tax Distortions 686

Practice What You Know: Problems with Inflation: How Big Is Your Raise in Real Terms? 687

#### What Is the Cause of Inflation? 688

The Equation of Exchange 689 The Reasons Why Governments Inflate the 691 Money Supply

Conclusion691ECONOMICS FOR LIFE: Inflation Devalues Dollars:<br/>Preparing Your Future for Inflation692

Answering the Big Questions 693

Concepts You Should Know694Questions for Review694Study Problems695Solved Problems696

### **22** Savings, Interest Rates, and the Market for Loanable Funds 698

### **Big Questions** 700

What is the Loanable Funds Market? 700
Interest Rates as a Reward for Saving 703
Interest Rates as a Cost of Borrowing 704
How Inflation Affects Interest Rates 704
What Factors Shift the Supply of Loanable Funds? 706 Income and Wealth 706
Practice What You Know: Interest Rates and Quantity Supplied and Demanded: U.S. Interest Rates Have Fallen 707
Time Preferences 707
Consumption Smoothing 709
Economics in the Media: Time Preferences: <i>Confessions of a Shopaholic</i> 710
Economics in the Real World: Why Is the Savings Rate in the United States Falling? 712
<b>SNAPSHOT:</b> A Map of the Loanable Funds Market 714
Practice What You Know: Time Preferences: War in Syria 715

### What Factors Shift the Demand for LoanableFunds?715

Productivity of Capital 715 Investor Confidence 716

Practice What You Know: Demand for Loanable Funds: SpongeBob and Loanable Funds 717

### How Do We Apply the Loanable Funds Market Model? 718

Equilibrium 718

Practice What You Know: Working with the Loanable Funds Model: Foreign Savings in the United States 719

A Decline in Investor Confidence 720 A Decrease in the Supply of Loanable Funds 720

 Conclusion
 722

 ECONOMICS FOR LIFE: Compound Interest: When Should You Start Saving for Retirement?
 723

### Answering the Big Questions 724

Concepts You Should Know725Questions for Review725Study Problems727Solved Problems727

### 23 Financial Markets and Securities 728

### **Big Questions** 730

How Do Financial Markets Help the Economy? 730

Direct and Indirect Financing 730 The Importance of Financial Markets 731 Economics in the Real World: Should We Bail Out Big Banks 732

Practice What You Know: Direct versus Indirect Finance: Which Is It? 733

What Are the Key Financial Tools for the Macroeconomy? 733 Bonds 733

#### **xxiv** / Contents

738 Stocks 739 Secondary Markets Economics in the Real World: Stock Market Indices: Dow Jones versus S&P 740 741 **Treasury Securities SNAPSHOT:** The Dow Jones Industrial Average 742 Home Mortgages 745 Securitization 745 Practice What You Know: The Effects of Foreign Investment: What If We Limit Foreign Ownership of Our National Debt? 747

Economics in the Media: Direct Finance: The Big Short 748

Conclusion 748 ECONOMICS FOR LIFE: Long-Run Returns for Stocks versus Bonds 749

Answering the Big Questions 750

Concepts You Should Know751Questions for Review751Study Problems751Solved Problems753

### **PART VII The Long and Short of Macroeconomics**

### 24 Economic Growth and the Wealth of Nations 756

**Big Questions** 758

Why Does Economic Growth Matter? 758 Some Ugly Facts 758 760 Learning from the Past Economics in the Real World: One Child Who Needs **Economic Progress** 763 Measuring Economic Growth 764 Economics in the Real World: How Does 2% Growth Affect Average People? 769 Practice What You Know: Computing Economic Growth: How Much Is Brazil Growing? 771 How Do Resources and Technology Contribute to **Economic Growth?** 771 **SNAPSHOT:** Economic Growth 772 774 Resources 776 Technology Practice What You Know: Resources: Growth Policy 777 What Institutions Foster Economic Growth? 779 Private Property Rights 779 Political Stability and the Rule of Law 780



Economics in the Real World: What Can Parking Violations Teach Us about International Institutions? 781

Competitive and Open Markets782Efficient Taxes783Stable Money and Prices783

Practice What You Know: Institutions: Can You Guess This Country? 784

Conclusion 784 ECONOMICS FOR LIFE: Learning More and Helping Alleviate Global Poverty 785

### Answering the Big Questions 786

Concepts You Should Know787Questions for Review787Study Problems787Solved Problems789

### **25 Growth Theory** 790

#### **Big Questions** 792

How Do Macroeconomic Theories Evolve?	792
The Evolution of Growth Theory	792
What Is the Solow Growth Model? 794	
A Nation's Production Function	794
Diminishing Marginal Products	'97
Implications of the Solow Model	800
Practice What You Know: Changes in Resou Disasters 802	rces: Natural
How Does Technology Affect Growth?	804
Technology and the Production Fund	ction 804
Exogenous Technological Change	806
Practice What You Know: Technological Inno the Production Function Affected? 807	ovations: How Is
Economics in the Media: Technological Cha <i>Marvels</i> 808	nge: <i>Modern</i>

Policy Implications of the Solow Model 808 Why Are Institutions the Key to Economic Growth? 809 The Role of Institutions 810 Institutions Determine Incentives 811 Economics in the Real World: Chile: A Modern Growth Miracle 814 **SNAPSHOT:** Institutions and Growth 816 Practice What You Know: Solow Growth Theory versus Modern Growth Theory: What Policy Is Implied? 817 **ECONOMICS FOR LIFE:** Institutions of Growth: Applying for a Patent 818 Conclusion 818 **Answering the Big Questions** 819

Concepts You Should Know820Questions for Review820Study Problems820Solved Problem822

### **26** The Aggregate Demand– Aggregate Supply Model 824

**Big Questions** 826

What Is the Aggregate Demand–Aggregate Supply Model? 826

### What Is Aggregate Demand? 827

The Slope of the Aggregate Demand Curve 829

Shifts in Aggregate Demand 832

Economics in the Media: Changes in Wealth: *Dumb and Dumber* 833

Practice What You Know: Aggregate Demand: Shifts in Aggregate Demand versus Movements along the Aggregate Demand Curve 834

Economics in the Real World: General Motors Sales Up in China, but Down in Europe 835 What Is Aggregate Supply?836Long-Run Aggregate Supply837Short-Run Aggregate Supply839SNAPSHOT: The Business Cycle840

Practice What You Know: Long-Run Aggregate Supply and Short-Run Aggregate Supply: Which Curve Shifts? 845

### How Does the Aggregate Demand–Aggregate Supply Model Help Us Understand the Economy? 845

Equilibrium in the Aggregate Demand–Aggregate Supply Model 846 Adjustments to Shifts in Long-Run Aggregate

Supply 848

Adjustments to Shifts in Short-Run Aggregate Supply 849

Economics in the Real World: The Drought of 2012 Sends Prices Higher 850

Adjustments to Shifts in Aggregate Demand 851

Practice What You Know: Using the Aggregate Demand–Aggregate Supply Model: The Japanese Earthquake and Tsunami of 2011 853

Conclusion 854

**Answering the Big Questions** 854 Concepts You Should Know 856 856 Questions for Review Study Problems 856 Solved Problems 858

### **27** The Great Recession, the **Great Depression, and Great** Macroeconomic Debates

#### **Big Questions** 862

#### **Exactly What Happened During the Great Recession and** the Great Depression? 862

862 The Great Recession

Practice What You Know: The Great Recession: What Made It "Great"? 867

The Great Depression 868

**SNAPSHOT:** Great Recession vs. Great Depression 872

### What Are the Major Debates in

Macroeconomics? 874 **Classical Economics** 

874 **Keynesian Economics** 876

#### Conclusion 877

Practice What You Know: The Big Debates: Guess Which View 878

#### **Answering the Big Questions** 878

Economics in the Media: The Big Disagreements in Macroeconomics: "Fear the Boom and the Bust" 879 **ECONOMICS FOR LIFE:** Understanding the Great

#### 880 Depression in Today's Context

Concepts You Should Know 881

Questions for Review 881 Study Problems 881 882 Solved Problem

860

### Appendix 14A: The Aggregate Expenditures Model 883

### The Components of Aggregate Expenditures 883

Consumption 885

Investment

An Economy without Government Spending or Net Exports 887

Equilibrium without Government Spending or Net Exports 889

Aggregate Expenditures with Government Spending and Net Exports 891

Practice What You Know: Spending and Equilibrium in a Small Economy 893

#### What Are the Implications of the AE Model? 893

- 1. Spending Determines Equilibrium Output and Income in the Economy 894
- 2. Equilibrium Can Occur Away from Full Employment 896
- 3. The Spending Multiplier 896

#### Conclusion 897

Concepts You Should Know 898 Questions for Review 898 Study Problem 898 Solved Problem 899

### **PART VIII Fiscal Policy**

### 28 Federal Budgets: The Tools of Fiscal Policy 902

### **Big Questions** 904

How Does the Government Spend? 904 Government Outlays 904 Social Security and Medicare 907 Practice What You Know: Mandatory versus Discretionary Spending 908 Economics in the Real World: Are There Simple Fixes to the Social Security and Medicare Funding Problems? 910 Spending and Current Fiscal Issues 911 How Does the Government Tax? 912 Sources of Tax Revenue 912 Payroll Taxes 913 Historical Income Tax Rates 915 Practice What You Know: Government Revenue: Federal Taxes 916 How Are Taxes Distributed 916 What Are Budget Deficits 918 Deficits 918 Deficits versus Debt 920



SNAPSHOT: The Federal Budget Deficit922Economics in the Real World: Several European Nations Are<br/>Grappling with Government Debt Problems923Foreign Ownership of U.S. Federal Debt924Practice What You Know: Federal Budgets: The U.S. Debt<br/>Crisis925ECONOMICS FOR LIFE: Budgeting for Your<br/>Take-Home Pay926Conclusion927

### Answering the Big Questions 927

Concepts You Should Know928Questions for Review928Study Problems929

### **29** Fiscal Policy 930

<b>Big Q</b>	uestions	932
--------------	----------	-----

What Is Fiscal Policy?932Expansionary Fiscal Policy932SNAPSHOT: Recession, Stimulus, ReinvestmentContractionary Fiscal Policy938Multipliers940Economics in the Media: Spending Multiplier: Pay It<br/>Forward943Practice What You Know: Expansionary Fiscal Policy:<br/>Shovel-Ready Projects944

936

What Are the Shortcomings of Fiscal Policy?Time Lags944	944
Economics in the Real World: Recognizing Lags Crowding-Out 946	945
Economics in the Real World: Did Government Spe Really Surge in 0009? 948	nding
Practice What You Know: Crowding-Out: Does Fisca Lead to More Aggregate Demand? 949	al Policy
Savings Shifts 950	
What Is Supply-Side Fiscal Policy? 950	
The Supply-Side Perspective 951	
Marginal Income Tax Rates 952	

#### **xxviii** / Contents

Practice What You Know: Supply-Side versus Demand-Side: The Bush Tax Cuts 952 ECONOMICS FOR LIFE: Planning for Your Future

Taxes 955

Conclusion 956

Answering the Big Questions 956

### **PART IX Monetary Policy**

# **30** Money and the Federal Reserve 962

**Big Questions** 964

### What Is Money? 964

Three Functions of Money 964

Economics in the Real World: The Evolution of Prison Money 967

Measuring the Quantity of Money 967

Practice What You Know: The Definition of Money 969

### How Do Banks Create Money? 970

The Business of Banking 970

Economics in the Real World: Twenty-First-Century Bank Run 975

How Banks Create Money 976

### How Does the Federal Reserve Control the Money Supply? 978

The Many Jobs of the Federal Reserve 978

Practice What You Know: Fractional Reserve Banking: The B-Money Bank 979



957

957

957

959

Economics in the Media: Moral Hazard: *Wall Street: Money Never Sleeps* 981

Practice What You Know: Federal Reserve Terminology 982

Monetary Policy Tools 982

Economics in the Real World: Excess Reserves Climb in the Wake of the Great Recession 987

**SNAPSHOT:** Show Me the Money! 988

Conclusion 990

Concepts You Should Know

Questions for Review

Study Problems

Solved Problems

### Answering the Big Questions 990

Concepts You Should Know991Questions for Review991Study Problems991Solved Problems993

### **31** Monetary Policy 994

**Big Questions** 996

What Is the Effect of Monetary Policy in the Short Run? 996 An Overview of Monetary Policy in the Short Run 996 Expansionary Monetary Policy 997 Economics in the Real World: Monetary Policy Responses to the Great Recession 999 Contractionary Monetary Policy 1001

Economics in the Real World: Monetary Policy's Contribution to the Great Depression 1003

Practice What You Know: Expansionary versus Contractionary Monetary Policy: Monetary Policy in the Short Run 1004

Why Doesn't Monetary Policy Always Work?1004Long-Run Adjustments1005Adjustments in Expectations1007Aggregate Supply Shifts and the GreatRecession1008

Practice What You Know: Monetary Policy Isn't Always Effective: Why Couldn't Monetary Policy Pull Us Out of the Great Recession? 1009

What Is the Phillips Curve?1010The Traditional Short-Run Phillips Curve1010The Long-Run Phillips Curve1012Expectations and the Phillips Curve1013

A Modern View of the Phillips Curve 1015

Implications for Monetary Policy 1017

Economics in the Media: Expectations: *The Invention of Lying* 1018

Economics in the Real World: Federal Reserve Press Conferences 1019

**SNAPSHOT:** Monetary Policy 1020

Practice What You Know: Monetary Policy: Expectations 1022

 
 Conclusion
 1022

 ECONOMICS
 FOR LIFE: How to Protect Yourself from Inflation

 1023

Answering the Big Questions 1024

Concepts You Should Know1025Questions for Review1025Study Problems1027Solved Problems1027

### **PART X International Economics**

1030

### **32** International Trade

**Big Questions** 1032

**Is Globalization for Real?** 1032 Growth in World Trade 1033

Economics in the Real World: Nicaragua Is Focused on Trade 1034

Trends in U.S. Trade 1034

Major Trading Partners of the United States 1036

Practice What You Know: Trade in Goods and Services: Deficit or Surplus? 1037

### How Does International Trade Help the Economy? 1038

Comparative Advantage 1038 Other Advantages of Trade 1041

Practice What You Know: Opportunity Cost and Comparative Advantage: Determining Comparative Advantage 1042



What Are the Effects of Tariffs and Quotas? 1044 Tariffs 1044 **SNAPSHOT:** Major U.S. Trade Partners 1046 1048 Ouotas Economics in the Real World: Inexpensive Shoes Face the **Highest Tariffs** 1049 1050 **Reasons Given for Trade Barriers** Economics in the Media: Free Trade: Star Wars Episode I: The Phantom Menace 1050

Practice What You Know: Tariffs and Quotas: The Winners and Losers from Trade Barriers 1052

Conclusion 1053

Answering the Big Questions 1053

 Concepts You Should Know
 1055

 Questions for Review
 1055

 Study Problems
 1055

 Solved Problems
 1057

<b>33 International Finance</b> 1058	What Causes Trade Deficits? 1077
Big Questions 1060	Practice What You Know: The Law of One Price: What Should the Price Be? 1078
Why Do Exchange Rates Rise and Fall? 1060	Balance of Payments 1079
Characteristics of Foreign Exchange Markets 1061	Practice What You Know: Current Account versus Capital Account Entries 1084
The Demand for Foreign Currency 1064	The Causes of Trade Deficits 1085
The Supply of Foreign Currency 1065	SNAPSHOT: To Peg or Not to Peg? 1088
Applying Our Model of Exchange Rates 1066	Conclusion 1090
Economics in the Real World: Chinese Export Growth Slows 1071	Answering the Big Questions 1090
Practice What You Know: The Bahamian Dollar Is Pegged to the U.S. Dollar 1072	Concepts You Should Know 1092 Questions for Review 1092 Study Problems 1093
What Is Purchasing Power Parity?1073The Law of One Price1073	Solved Problems 1093
Purchasing Power Parity and Exchange Rates 1074	Clossary A1
Economics in the Media: Impossible Exchange Rates:	Glossary Al
Eurotrip 1075	Credits A11
Economics in the Real World: The Big Mac Index 1076	Index A19
Why PPP Does Not Hold Perfectly 1076	

### PREFACE

We are teachers of principles of economics. That is what we do. We each teach principles of microeconomics and macroeconomics to over a thousand students a semester, every single semester, at the University of Arizona and the University of Virginia. To date, we have taught over 40,000 students.

We decided to write our own text for one big reason. We simply were not satisfied with the available texts and felt strongly that we could write an innovative book to which dedicated instructors like us would respond. It's not that the already available texts were bad or inaccurate; it's that they lacked an understanding of what we, as teachers, have learned through fielding the thousands of questions that our students have asked us over the years. We do not advise policymakers, but we do advise students, and we know how their minds work.

For instance, there really was no text that showed an understanding for where students consistently trip up (for example, cost curves) and therefore provided an additional example or better yet, a worked exercise. There really was no text that was careful to reinforce new terminology and difficult sticking points with explanations in everyday language. There really was no text that leveraged the fact that today's students are key participants in the twenty-first-century economy and that used examples and cases from markets in which they interact all the time (such as the markets for cell phones, social networking sites, computing devices, and online book sellers).

What our years in the classroom have brought home to us is the importance of meeting students where they are. This means knowing their cultural touchstones and trying to tell the story of economics with those touchstones in mind. In our text we meet students where they are through resonance and reinforcement. In fact, these two words are our mantra—we strive to make each topic resonate and then make it stick through reinforcement.

Whenever possible, we use student-centered examples that resonate with students. For instance, many of our examples refer to jobs that students often hold and businesses that often employ them. If the examples resonate, students are much more likely to dig into the material wholeheartedly and internalize key concepts.

When we teach, we try to create a rhythm of reinforcement in our lectures that begins with the presentation of new material, followed by a concrete example and then a reinforcing device, and then closes with a "make it stick" moment. We do this over and over again. We have tried to bring that rhythm to the book. We believe strongly that this commitment to reinforcement works. To give an example, in our chapter "Oligopoly and Strategic Behavior," while presenting the crucial-yet-difficult subject of game theory, we work through the concept of the prisoner's dilemma at least six different ways. No educator is happy with the challenge we all face to motivate our students to read the assigned text. No matter how effective our lectures are, if our students are not reinforcing those lectures by reading the assigned text chapters, they are only partially absorbing the key takeaways that properly trained citizens need to thrive in today's world. A second key motivation for us to undertake this ambitious project was the desire to create a text that students would read, week in and week out, for the entire course. By following our commitment to resonance and reinforcement, we are confident that we have written a text that's a good read for today's students. So good, in fact, that we believe students will read entire chapters and actually enjoy them. Many users of the first edition have indicated that this is the case.

What do we all want? We want our students to leave our courses having internalized fundamentals that they will remember for life. The fundamentals (such as understanding incentives, opportunity cost, and thinking at the margin) will help them to make better choices in the workplace, in their personal investments, in their long-term planning, in their voting, and in all their critical choices. The bottom line is that they will live more fulfilled and satisfying lives if we succeed. The purpose of this text is to help all of us succeed in this quest.

What does this classroom-inspired, student-centered text look like?

### **A Simple Narrative**

First and foremost, we keep the narrative simple. We always bear in mind all those office-hour conversations with students where we searched for some way to make sense of this foreign language—for them—that is economics. It is incredibly satisfying when you find the right expression, explanation, or example that creates the "Oh, now I get it . . ." moment with your student. We have filled the narrative with those successful "now I get it" passages.

### **Real-World, Relatable Examples and Cases that Resonate**

Nothing makes this material stick for students like good examples and cases that they relate to, and we have peppered our book with them. They are part of the narrative, set off with an Economics in the Real World heading. We further feature Economics in the Media boxed examples that use scenes from movies and TV shows that illustrate economic concepts. One of us has written the book (literally!) on economics in the movies, and we have used these clips year after year to make economics stick with students.

#### **ECONOMICS IN THE REAL WORLD**

Internet Piracy

nership that copyrig

s comes with several righ

copyright gal right created by the law

try, that grants the creator

work exclusive right

, as the owner, have exch

The digitization of media, along with the speed with which it can be transferred across the Internet, has made the protection of intellectual property rights (that is, the protection of patents, copyrights, and trademarks) very difficult to enforce. Many countries either do not have strict copyright standards or fail to enforce them. The result is a black market filled with bootlegged copies of movies, music, and other media.

Because digital "file sharing" is so common these days, you might not fully understand the harm that occurs. Piracy is an illegal form of free-riding. Every song and every movie that is transferred takes away royalties that would have gone to the original artist or the studio. After all, producing content is expensive, and

►

THE MEDI

ICS IN 1

ing a fair return on content don't often s the copyright encryption in question or bought it legally of ent. One reason copyright law exist

violations of con

are fully specified and enforced acro tors receive compensation for the violated, revenues to private busine and movies produced will decrease and society will suffer (For other be Think about the relationship be

each side needs the other. In that se watch is not a true public good, b make the good excludable but no always have an incentive to viola insist on ever more complicated er ests, and for the betterment of soci to enforce copyright law to prevent

#### **Direct Finance**

#### The Big Short

The Big Short (2016) is based on the book with the same title by Michael Lewis. The movie is essentially a documentary that doesn't feel like a documentary as the actors carefully explain the details of the finan-cial collapse that led to the Great Recession in 2007.

The movie introduces Mark Baum (played by Steve Carrell) and Michael Burry (played by Christian Bale), who were among the few people who recognized the dangers in the economy's rampant reliance on overvalued mortgage-backed securities

In the movie, Baum and Burry travel to Florida to interview real borrowers. They knock on home doors and visit local businesses. These interviews help them see what almost nobody at the big banks sees: that the borrowers will not have the income to repay their loans when their low introductory interest rates increase. When these borrowers stop paying, their securitized mortgages being sold to investors will become worthless. When Baum realizes that he can make a lot of money by betting that these losses will happen (a process called "shorting" the mortgages), he recognizes that the economy will take a nosedive when other financial insiders finally reach the same conclusion. In the meantime, he determines, the very biggest invest-



In the movie The Big Short, we get a look at the nplicated world of finar

ment banks (including Goldman Sachs and Lehman Brothers) are in over their heads, have no idea about the dangers that are brewing, and do not realize how dangerous subprime loans are to the economy.

At the end of the day, The Big Short helps you understand secondary markets, securitization, and mortgage-backed securities. In addition, it provides a good look at some of the perverse incentives and dangers that lurk inside the real-world loanable funds market

### Applying Economic Decision-Making Through Problem-Solving

(K1), which means that output also returns to its steady-state level (Y1)

Most instructors in this course want students to learn to think like economists and to apply economic principles to their decision-making. This text shares this goal. To get students thinking about economics, we first open each chapter with a popular **misconception**. Students come to our classes with a number of strongly held misconceptions about economics and the economy, so we begin each chapter recognizing that fact and then establishing what we will do to clarify that subject area. Then, in each chapter, several **Practice What You Know** features allow students to self-check their comprehension while also laying the foundation for the step-by-step problem solving required for the end-of-chapter **Study Problems**. And throughout the text, key equations are used, and the **five core foundations of economics** (incentives, trade-offs, opportunity cost, marginal thinking, and trade creates value) are reinforced with a special icon to ensure that students are constantly connecting the dots.





### **Big-Picture Pedagogy**

For beginning students, economics can be a subject with many new concepts and seemingly many details to memorize. To help keep students focused on the big ideas of each chapter while continuing to emphasize critical thinking, we use several unique features. First we introduce students to the objectives in each chapter in the form of **Big Questions** that students will explore rather than memorize. Then we come back to the Big Questions in the conclusion to the chapter with Answering the Big Questions.



Another notable reinforcement device is the Snapshot that appears in most chapters. We have used the innovation of modern infographics to create a memorable story that reinforces a particularly important topic. By combining pictures, text, and data in these unique features, we encourage students to think about and understand different components of a concept working together.

#### ANSWERING THE BIG QUESTIONS

#### What is monopolistic competition?

- \* Monopolistic competition is a market structure characterized by free entry and many firms selling differentiated products.
- \* Differentiation of products takes three forms: differentiation by style or type, location, and quality.

#### What are the differences between monopolistic competition, competitive markets, and monopoly?

- \* Monopolistic competitors, like monopolists, are price makers that have downward-sloping demand curves. Whenever the demand curve is downward sloping, the firm is able to mark up the price above marginal cost. The results are excess capacity and an inefficient level of output.
- \* In the long run, barriers to entry enable a monopoly to earn an economic profit. This is not the case for monopolistic competition or competitive markets.

#### Why is advertising prevalent in monopolistic competition?

\* Advertising performs useful functions under monopolistic competition: it conveys information about the price of the goods offered for sale, the location of products, and new products. It also signals differences in quality. However, advertising also encourages brand loyalty, which makes it harder for other businesses to successfully enter the market. Advertising can be manipulative and misleading.

### **Solved Problems Pedagogy**

Last but certainly not least, we conclude each chapter with a selection of fully solved problems that appear in the end-of-chapter material. These problems show students how to approach material they will see in homework, quizzes, and tests.

### SOLVED PROBLEMS



5a. The equilibrium price is \$4, and the equilibrium quantity is 60 quarts. The next step is to graph the curves, as shown here.

- b. A shortage of 40 quarts of ice cream exists at \$3 (quantity demanded is 80 and the quantity supplied is 40); therefore, there is excess demand. Ice cream sellers will raise their price as long as excess demand exists—that is, as long as the price is below \$4. It is not until \$4 that the equilibrium point is reached and the shortage is resolved.
- **8.a.** The first step is to set  $Q_D = Q_S$ . Doing so gives us 90 2P = P. Solving for price, we find that 90 = 3P, or P = 30. Once we know that P = 30, we can plug this value back into either of the original equations,  $Q_D = 90 2P$  or  $Q_S = P$ . Beginning with  $Q_D$ , we get 90 2(30) = 90 60 = 30, or we can plug it into  $Q_S = P$ , so  $Q_S = 30$ . Because we get a quantity of 30 for both  $Q_D$  and  $Q_S$ , we know that the price of \$30 is correct.
- **b.** In this part, we plug \$20 into  $Q_D$ . Doing so yields 90 2(20) = 50. Now we plug \$20 into  $Q_{S_L}$  Doing so yields 20.
- **c.** Because  $Q_D = 50$  and  $Q_S = 20$ , there is a shortage of 30 quarts.
- **d**. Whenever there is a shortage of a good, the price will rise in order to find the equilibrium point.

- 9a. The reduction in consumer income led to a negative, or leftward, shift in the demand curve for gasoline. Because this is the only change, the equilibrium price of gasoline fell. In fact, by the end of 2008, the price of gasoline had fallen to under \$2 per gallon in the United States.
- b. The significant drop in the cost of production led to a large increase, or rightward, shift in the supply of gasoline. This increase in supply led to a decrease in price. In fact, by early 2015, the average price of a gallon of regular gasoline in the United States fell to under \$2 per gallon.

Looking at parts (a) and (b) together, you can see that very different causes led to steep drops in the price of gasoline. In 2008 the cause was a decline in demand; in 2014 it was an increase in supply.

10. Because alcohol and Solo cups are complements, the key here is to recall that a change in the price of a complementary good shifts the demand curve for the related good. Lower alcohol prices will cause consumers to purchase more alcohol and therefore demand more Solo cups. In other words, the entire demand curve for Solo cups shifts to the right.

Solved Problems / 103

### **Principles of Microeconomics**— Hallmarks and Updates to the Second Edition

When we wrote the first edition of *Principles of Microeconomics*, we decided to follow the traditional structure found in most texts. Though every chapter is critical, we believe that supply and demand, elasticity, and production costs are the *most* fundamental, since so many other insights and takeaways build on them. We tried triply hard to reinforce these chapters with extra examples and opportunities for self-assessment.

Feedback from the first edition led us to move the chapter on market efficiency earlier so that instructors can discuss consumer and producer surplus when they teach price controls. We also added a chapter on international trade (from *Principles of Macroeconomics*) after we heard that many of our *Principles of Microeconomics* instructors emphasize that content.

We have made other important updates based on reviewer feedback. Content updates include a thoroughly revised chapter on income, inequality, and poverty, in particular adding discussions of GINI coefficients and the Lorenz curve. Our coverage of game theory in Chapter 13 now includes sequential games, backward induction, and decision trees. Of course, we have updated our examples, adding features showing how students see inequality in the *Hunger Games* movies, how Uber is changing the New York City taxi market, and how Thomas Piketty's *Capital in the Twenty-First Century* has influenced notions of economic inequality—to name just a few. Lastly, we have added new study problems at the end of every chapter.

One hallmark of this textbook that is not found anywhere else in the Principles markets remains. This text includes a separate chapter on price discrimination. We have done this because the digital economy has made price discrimination much more common than it ever was before, so what was once a fun but somewhat marginal topic is no longer marginal. What's more students really relate to it because they are subject to it in many of the markets in which they participate—for example, college sporting events.

We also place a stand-alone consumer theory chapter toward the end of the volume, but that does not mean that we consider it an optional chapter. We have learned that there is tremendous variation among instructors for when to present this material in the course, and we wanted to allow for maximum flexibility.

### **Principles of Macroeconomics**— Hallmarks and Updates to the Second Edition

*Principles of Macroeconomics* follows the traditional structure found in most texts, but it contains several chapters on new topics that reflect the latest thinking and priorities in macroeconomics. First, at the end of the unit on macroeconomics basics, we have an entire chapter on financial markets,

including coverage of securitization and mortgage-backed securities. The economic crisis of 2008-2009 made everyone aware of the importance of financial markets for the worldwide economy, and students want to know more about this fascinating project.

Economic growth is presented before the short run, and we have two chapters devoted to the topic. The first focuses on the facts of economic growth. It discusses in largely qualitative terms how nations like South Korea and Singapore can be so wealthy, and nations like North Korea and Liberia can be so impoverished. The second chapter presents the Solow growth model in very simple terms. We've included this chapter to highlight the importance of growth and modeling. That said, it is optional and can be skipped by those instructors who have had time for only one chapter on growth.

Coverage of the short run includes a fully developed chapter on the aggregate demand—aggregate supply model, and a second chapter that uses this key model to analyze—essentially side by side—the Great Depression and the Great Recession. We feel this is a very effective way of presenting several of the key debates within economics.

Finally, we have written a unique chapter on the federal budget, which has allowed us to discuss at length the controversial topic of entitlements and the foreign ownership of U.S. national debt.

Feedback from the first edition has driven important revisions for this new edition. In particular, we have added a new appendix on the Aggregate Expenditures model to chapter 14. We have also expanded our discussion of the origins of the great recession in this chapter, added new sections on "GDP and Happiness" in chapter 6 and the equation of exchange in chapter 8, and made major changes to Chapter 13 on the Aggregate Demand —Aggregate Supply model. Of course, we have updated the examples in the book, including new features on using the movie *The Big Short*, and how GDP is calculated in Europe. We have also added additional study problems at the end of each chapter.

### **Supplements and Media**



### Smartwork5

Smartwork5 for *Principles of Economics* is an online learning environment that helps instructors meet the teaching goal of connecting concepts and showing applications. Richly varied questions and intuitive functionality give users the flexibility to create the type of learning best for their students. Try a demo of the following features at digital.wwnorton.com/prineco2.

#### Easy to launch, easy to use

Simple course setup and intuitive student registration minimize administrative headaches at the beginning of the semester. Instructors can use prebuilt activities or customize their own assignments and questions to suit their needs.

#### Integration with campus LMS platforms

Smartwork5 integrates with campus learning management systems. Student grades flow automatically to the instructor's LMS course. Single sign-on between the LMS and Norton digital products simplifies student access—and this means fewer password/log-in woes.



Smartwork5 Norton's easy to use homework system designed to integrate with your LMS.

#### Trusted economics tools and content

Smartwork5 teaches students not just how to solve problems but how to problem-solve, connecting concepts to learned skills through varied applications. Smartwork5 includes assignments based on real-world economic scenarios, "Office Hour" Video Tutorials presented in the learning moment, analytical and interactive graphing questions, and application problems. Rich answer-specific feedback builds students' confidence and economic skills. Questions are book specific, matching the terminology and conventions that students see in their textbook. They are developed in collaboration with instructors actively teaching with the Mateer and Coppock textbook.

#### **Rich performance reports**

Intuitive performance reports for both individual students and entire classes help instructors gauge student comprehension and adjust their teaching accordingly.

### An intuitive easy-to-use graphing tool

The Smartwork5 graphing interface consistently employs the same coloration and notation as the in-text art to underscore continuity and reduce confusion. The interface is easy to understand, and it functions on computers as well as tablet devices. Students are invited to manipulate precreated graphs or draw their own graphs from scratch.

### Answer-specific feedback and hints

Smartwork5 teaches students to problem-solve, not just solve a single problem. Many online homework systems only offer solution explanations

after the student has answered a question. Smartwork5, in contrast, provides explanations throughout the problem-solving process, giving answer-specific feedback and hints for common misconceptions.



### InQuizitive

Award-winning InQuizitive is Norton's gamelike, adaptive quizzing and practice system. Developed with book-specific questions and content, this system lets students compete with themselves as they prepare their material for class. Demo InQuisitive at digital.wwnorton.com/prineco2.

### Play with a purpose

Gaming elements built into InQuizitive engage students and motivate them to keep working. Students wager points on every question based on their confidence level, gain additional points for hot streaks and bonus questions, and can improve their grade by continuing to work in InQuizitive.

### Active learning, helpful feedback

InQuizitive includes a variety of question types beyond basic multiple choice. Image-click, numeric entry, and various graph interpretation questions build economic skills and better prepare students for lecture, quizzes, and exams. Rich answer-specific feedback helps students understand their mistakes.

### Easy to use

Instructors can set up InQuizitive for their students in less than 5 minutes. Students can access InQuizitive on tablet devices as well as on computers,



InQuisitive Norton's game-like adaptive quizzing and practice system.

making it easy to study on the go. InQuizitive integrates with campus learning management systems; when integration is enabled, grades flow automatically to campus LMS gradebooks.

### Formative assessment works

The efficacy of formative assessment is backed by education and psychology research (see inquizitive.wwnorton.com). Furthermore, performance-specific feedback, varied question types, and gaming elements built into InQuizitive have been shown to increase student engagement and retention of material.

### **Norton Coursepack**

Bring tutorial videos, assessment, and other online teaching resources directly into your new or existing online course with the Norton Coursepack. It's easily customizable and available for all major learning management systems, including Blackboard, Desire2Learn, Moodle, and Canvas.

The Norton Coursepack for Principles of Economics includes:

- \* Concept Check quizzes
- \* Homework quizzes
- \* Office Hours video tutorials
- \* Interactive Scratch Paper modules
- ★ Flashcards
- \* Links to the digital landing page for the e-book, InQuizitive, and Smartwork
- ∗ Test bank

### The Ultimate Guide to Teaching Economics— Now with teaching tips for online courses

*The Ultimate Guide to Teaching Economics* is much more than an instructor's manual, it is two handbooks for becoming a better teacher. The Ultimate Guide—the most innovative instructor's manual ever created for Principles of Economics—includes 1,000+ teaching tips from the classrooms of the authors and other innovative instructors, to help instructors, both new and experienced, incorporate best teaching practices and find inspiring ideas for enlivening their lectures.

The tips in *The Ultimate Guide to Teaching Microeconomics* and *The Ultimate Guide to Teaching Macroeconomics* include:

- \* New—A Taking It Online appendix in each chapter that shows how the Ultimate Guide's class-tested teaching ideas can be adapted to online teaching environments
- \* New—Writing to Learn tips that give instructors short (one-page or less) paper prompts with ideas for potential student responses
- \* Think-pair-share activities to promote small-group discussion and active learning
- \* "Recipes" for in-class activities and demonstrations that include descriptions of the activity, required materials, estimated length of time, estimated difficulty, recommended class size, and instructions. Ready-to-use worksheets are also available for select activities.

- \* Descriptions of movie clips, TV shows, commercials, and other videos that can be used in class to illustrate economic concepts
- \* Clicker questions
- Ideas for music examples that can be used as lecture starters
- Suggestions for additional real-world examples to engage students

In addition to the teaching tips, each chapter begins with an introduction by Dirk Mateer, highlighting important concepts to teach in the chapter and pointing out his favorite tips. Each chapter ends with solutions to the unsolved end-of-chapter problems in the textbook.

### **Interactive Instructor's Guide**

The Interactive Instructor's Guide (IIG) brings all the great content from *The Ultimate Guide to Teaching Economics* into a searchable online database that can be searched and filtered by a number of criteria, such as topic, chapter, key word, media format, and resource type. Instructors can even save their favorite assets to a list so they don't need to hunt for them each time they revisit the IIG.

To make it quick and easy for instructors to incorporate the tips from *The Ultimate Guide to Teaching Economics,* the IIG will include:

- \* Links for music and video tips when an online video is freely available
- \* Links to news articles for real-world examples when an article is available
- \* Downloadable versions of student worksheets for activities and demonstrations
- \* Downloadable PowerPoint slides for clicker questions
- \* Additional teaching resources not found in the Ultimate Guide



**Interactive Instructor's Guide** This searchable database of premium resources makes lecture development easy.

### **Office Hours Video Tutorials**

This collection of more than 50 videos brings the office-hour experience online. Each video explains a fundamental concept and was conceived by and filmed with authors Dirk Mateer and Lee Coppock.

Perfect for online courses, each Office Hours video tutorial is succinct (90 seconds to 2 minutes in length) and mimics the office-hour experience. The videos focus on topics that are typically difficult to explain just in writing (or over email), such as shifting supply and demand curves.

The Office Hours videos have been incorporated throughout the Smart-Work online homework system as video feedback for questions, integrated into the e-book, included in the Norton Coursepack, and included in the Norton Coursepack.

### **Test Bank**

Each chapter of the test bank for the second edition has been fully updated and expanded based on reviewer feedback. Each chapter includes between 100 and 150 questions and incorporates graphs and images where appropriate, The test bank has been developed using the Norton Assessment Guidelines. Hundreds of new questions have been developed for the second edition that focus on graphing, scenario-based questions, and calculations. Each question in the test bank is classified according to Bloom's taxonomy of knowledge types (remembering, understanding and applying, analyzing and evaluating, and creating). Questions are further classified by section and difficulty, making it easy to construct tests and quizzes that are meaningful and diagnostic.

### **Presentation Tools**

Norton offers a variety of presentation tools so that new instructors and veteran instructors alike can find the resources that are best suited for their teaching style.

### **Enhanced Lecture Powerpoint Slides**

These comprehensive, lecture-ready slides are perfect for new instructors and instructors who have limited time to prepare for lecture. The slides include elements such as images from the book, stepped-out versions of in-text graphs, additional examples not included in the chapter, and clicker questions.

### **Student Note-Taking Slides**

This resource is a trimmed-down version of the lecture slides with instructor notes removed for instructors who prefer slides that are more visual and with limited bullets. These are great for posting to the LMS for students to download for note-taking during lecture.

### **Art Slides and Art JPEGs**

For instructors who simply want to incorporate in-text art into their existing slides, all art from the book (tables, graphs, photos, and Snapshot infographics) is available in both PowerPoint and .jpeg formats. Stepped-out versions

of in-text graphs and Snapshot infographics are also provided and optimized for screen projection.

### dirkmateer.com

Visit dirkmateer.com to find a library of hundreds of recommended movie and TV clips and links to online video sources to use in class.

### leecoppock.com

This blog serves as a one-stop-shop for all the "econ news you can use." Here you will find timely economic data, graphics, and teaching materials you will need to keep your course fresh and topical.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank the literally hundreds of fellow instructors who have helped us refine both our vision and the actual words on the page for two editions of this text. Without your help, we would never have gotten to the finish line. We hope that the result is the economics teacher's text that we set out to write.

#### Our class testers:

Jennifer Bailly, California State University, Long Beach Mihajlo Balic, Harrisburg Community College Erol Balkan, Hamilton College Susan Bell, Seminole State College Scott Benson, Idaho State University Joe DaBoll-Lavoie, Nazareth College Michael Dowell, California State University, Sacramento Abdelaziz Farah, State University of New York, Orange J. Brian O'Roark, Robert Morris University Shelby Frost, Georgia State University Karl Geisler, University of Nevada, Reno Nancy Griffin, Tyler Junior College Lauren Heller, Berry College John Hilston, Brevard Community College Kim Holder. University of West Georgia Todd Knoop, Cornell College Katharine W. Kontak, Bowling Green State University

Our reviewers and advisors from focus groups:

Mark Abajian, California State University, San Marcos Teshome Abebe, Eastern Illinois University Charity-Joy Acchiardo, University of Arizona Rebecca Achee Thornton, University of Houston Mehdi Afiat, College of Southern Nevada Carlos Aguilar, El Paso Community College Seemi Ahmad, State University of New York, Dutchess Abdullah Al-Bahrani, Northern Kentucky University Frank Albritton, Seminole State College Rashid Al-Hmoud, Texas Tech University Farhad Ameen, Westchester Community College Giuliana Andreopoulos, William Paterson University Tom Andrews, West Chester University Becca Arnold, San Diego Mesa College Giant Aryani, Collin College Lisa Augustyniak, Lake Michigan College Dennis Avola, Bentley University Roberto Ayala, California State University, Fullerton Philip Baca, New Mexico Military Institute Ron Baker, Millersville University Saad Bakir, Alabama State University

Daniel Kuester, Kansas State University Herman Li, University of Nevada, Las Vegas Gary Lyn, University of Massachusetts, Lowell Kyle Mangum, Georgia State University Shah Mehrabi, Montgomery College Sean Mulholland, Stonehill College Vincent Odock, State University of New York, Orange Michael Price, Georgia State University Matthew Rousu, Susquehanna University Tom Scales, Southside Virginia Community College Tom Scheiding, University of Wisconsin, Stout Clair Smith, St. John Fisher College Tesa Stegner, Idaho State University James Tierney, State University of New York, Plattsburgh Nora Underwood, University of Central Florida Michael Urbancic, University of Oregon Marlon Williams, Lock Haven University

Mihajlo Balic, Harrisburg Area Community College Kuntal Banerjee, Florida Atlantic University Ryan Baranowski, Coe College Ruth Barney, Edison Community College David Barrus, Brigham Young University, Idaho Jude Bayham, Washington State University Mary Beal-Hodges. University of North Florida Michael Bech, University of Southern Denmark Stacie Beck, University of Delaware Christian Beer, University of North Carolina, Wilmington Jodi Beggs, Northeastern University Richard Beil, Auburn University Ari Belasen, Southern Illinois University Doris Bennett, Jacksonville State University Karen Bernhardt-Walther, The Ohio State University Joel Beutel, Delta College Prasun Bhattachariee. East Tennessee State University Richard Bilas, College of Charleston Kelly Blanchard, Purdue University Inácio Bo, Boston College Michael Bognanno, Temple University

#### **xlvi** / Acknowledgments

Antonio Bojanic, California State University, Sacramento David Boldt, University of West Georgia Michael Bonnal, University of Tennesse, Chattanooga Heather Bono, University of West Georgia Andrea Borchard, Hillsborough Community College Feler Bose. Alma College Inoussa Boubacar, University of Wisconsin, Stout Donald Boudreaux, George Mason University Austin Boyle. Penn State Jared Boyd, Henry Ford Community College Elissa Braunstein, Colorado State University Elizabeth Breitbach, University of Southern California Kristie Briggs, Creighton University Stacey Brook, University of Iowa Bruce Brown, California State Polytechnic University, Pomona John Brown, Clark University Vera Brusentsev, Swarthmore College Laura Maria Bucila, Texas Christian University Bryan Buckley, Northeastern State University Richard Burkhauser, Cornell University W. Jennings Byrd, Troy University Joseph Calhoun, Florida State University Charles Callahan, State University of New York, Brockport Douglas Campbell, University of Memphis Giorgio Canarella, University of Nevada, Las Vegas Laura Carolevschi, Winona State University Nancy Carter, Kilgore College Amber Casolari, Riverside Community College Nevin Cavusoglu, James Madison University Valbona Cela, TriCounty Technical College Semih Cekin, Texas Tech University Rebecca Chambers, University of Delaware Jason Chang, California Polytechnic State University, Pomona June Charles, North Lake College Sanjukta Chaudhuri, University of Wisconsin, Eau Claire Parama Chaudhury, University College of London Chuiping Chen, American River College Shuo Chen, State University of New York, Geneseo Monica Cherry, State University of New York, Buffalo Larry Chisesi, University of San Diego David L. Cleeton, Illinois State University Marcelo Clerici-Arias, Stanford University Steve Cobb, University of North Texas John Colletti, North Central College Kristen Collett-Schmitt, University of Notre Dame Rhonda Collier, Portland Community College Michael Coon, Hood College Gary Cooper, University of Minnesota William Cooper, University of Kentucky Carlos Cortinhas, University of Exeter Chad D. Cotti, University of Wisconsin, Oshkosh Richard Cox, Arizona State University Erik Craft, University of Richmond Antoinette Criss, University of South Florida Zachary Cronin, Hillsborough Community College Glynice Crow, Wallace State Community College Patrick Crowley, Texas A&M University, Corpus Christi Damian Damianov, University of Texas, Pan American

Morassa Danai, California State University, Fullerton Ribhi Daoud, Sinclair Community College Patrick Dolenc, University of Massachusetts, Amherst John Donahue, Estrella Mountain Community College Oswaldo Donoso, Lone Star College, North Harris Kacey Douglas, Mississippi State University Whitney Douglas-Buser, Young Harris College Chelsea Dowell, Upper Iowa University William Dupor, The Ohio State University Harold W. Elder, University of Alabama Diantha Ellis, Abraham Baldwin Agricultural College Harry Ellis, University of North Texas Amani Elobeid. Iowa State University Tisha Emerson, Baylor University Lucas Englehardt, Kent State University Michael Enz, Framingham State University Erwin Erhardt, University of Cincinnati Mary Ervin, El Paso Community College Molly Espey, Clemson University Jose Esteban, Palomar Community College Sarah Estelle, Hope College Patricia Euzent, University of Central Florida Brent Evans, Mississippi State University Carolyn Fabian Stumph, Indiana University-Purdue University, Fort Wayne Leila Farivar, The Ohio State University Ben Fitch-Fleischmann, University of Oregon Oscar Flores, Minnesota State University, Moorhead Michael Forney, Austin Community College Irene Foster, George Washington University Roger Frantz, San Diego State University Gnel Gabrielyan, Washington State University Craig Gallet, California State University, Sacramento Susan Garrigan-Piela, Hudson Valley Community College Wayne Geerling, Pennsylvania State University Karl Geisler, New Mexico State University Elisabetta Gentile, University of Houston Erin George, Hood College Menelik Geremew, Texas Tech University Linda Ghent, Easter Illinois University Dipak Ghosh, Emporia State University Edgar Ghossoub, University of Texas at San Antonio J. Robert Gillette, University of Kentucky Gregory Gilpin, Montana State University Joana Girante, Arizona State University Lisa Gloege, Grand Rapids Community College Robert Godby, University of Wyoming John Goddeeris, Michigan State University Rajeev Goel, Illinois State University Bill Goffe, State University of New York, Oswego Michael Gootzeit, University of Memphis Paul Graf, Indiana University, Bloomington Alan Green, Stetson University Barbara Grey, Brown Foundation Natalia Grey, Southeastern Missouri State University Jeremy Groves, Northern Illinois University Gail Havne Hafer, St. Louis Community College Dan Hamermesh, University of Texas at Austin Mehdi Haririan, Bloomsburg University Oskar Harmon, University of Connecticut

David Harrington, The Ohio State University David Harris, Benedictine College Darcy Hartman, The Ohio State University John Hayfron, Western Washington University Beth Navnes, East Tennessee State University Jill Hayter, East Tennessee State University Densie Hazlett, Whitman College Douglas Heiwig, Ivy Tech Community College Marc Hellman, Oregon State University Amy Henderson, St. Mary's College Maryland Jessica Hennessey, Furman State Wayne Hickenbottom, University of Texas at Austin Mike Hilmer, San Diego State University Ashley Hodgson, St. Olaf College Adam Hoffer, University of Wisconsin, La Crosse Jan Höffler, University of Göttingen Lora Holcombe, Florida State University Charles Holt, University of Virginia James Hornsten, Northwestern University Nancy Howe, Hudson Valley Community College Gail M. Hoyt, University of Kentucky Yu-Mong Hsiao, Campbell University Alice Hsiaw, College of the Holy Cross Yu Hsing, Southeastern Louisiana University Amanda Hughey, University of Delaware Brad R. Humphreys, West Virginia University Greg W. Hunter, California State Polytechnic University, Pomona Miren Ivankovic, Anderson University Meredith Jackson, Snead State Community College Sarah Jenyk, Youngstown State University Kristen Johnson, Metropolitan State University of Denver Paul Johnson, University of Alaska, Anchorage David Kalist, Shippensburg University of Pennsylvania Mustafa Karakaplan, Oregon State University Nicholas Karatjas, Indian University of Pennsylvania Reza Karim, Des Moines Area Community College Hossein Kazemi, Stonehill College Janis Kea, West Valley College Michael Kelley, Oakwood University Carrie B. Kerekes, Florida Gulf Coast University Frank Kim, University of San Diego Sandra Kinel, Monroe Community College Linda Kinney, Shepherd University Vivian Kirby, Kennesaw State University Ara Khanjian, Ventura College Colin Knapp, University of Florida Mary Knudson, University of Iowa Brian Koralewski, Suffolk County Community College, Ammerman Dmitri Krichevskiy, Elizabethtown College Lone Grønbæk Kronbak, University of Southern Denmark Daniel Kuester, Kentucky State University Jean Kujawa, Lourdes University Sylvia Kuo, Brown University

- MAJ James Lacovara, United States Military Academy at West Point
   Becky Lafrancois, Colorado School of Mines
   Ermelinda Laho, LaGuardia Community College
- David Lang, California State University, Sacramento

Carsten Lange, California State Polytechnic University, Pomona Tony Laramie, Merrimack College Paul Larson, University of Delaware Teresa Laughlin, Palomar College Jason Lee, University of California, Merced Logan Lee, University of Oregon Jenny Lehman, Wharton County Junior College Mike Leonard, Kwantlen Polytechnic Amy Leung, Cosumnes River College Eric Levy, Florida Atlantic University Herman Li, University of Nevada, Las Vegas Ishuan Li, Minnesota State University, Mankato Jaclyn Lindo, University of Hawaii, Manoa Charles Link, University of Delaware Delores Linton, Tarrant County College Arthur Liu, East Carolina University Weiwei Liu, Saginaw Valley State University Xuepeng Liu, Kennesaw State University Monika Lopez-Anuarbe, Connecticut College Heriberto Lozano, Mississippi State University Brian Lynch, Lake Land College Lynn MacDonald, St. Cloud State University Zachary Machunda, Minnesota State University, Moorhead Bruce Madariaga, Montgomery College Brinda Mahalingam, University of California, Riverside Chowdhury Mahmoud, Concordia University Mark Maier, Glendale Community College Lucy Malakar, Lorain County Community College Len Malczynski, University of New Mexico Margaret Malixi, California State University, Bakersfield Nimantha Manamperi, St. Cloud University Amber Mann, Corretta Scott King High School Sonia Mansoor, Westminster College Daniel Marburger, Arkansas State University Emily Marshall, Dickinson College Jim McAndrew, Luzerne County Community College Michael McAvoy, State University of New York, Oneonta Kate McClain, University of Georgia Myra McCrickard, Bellarmine University Cara McDaniel, Arizona State University Scott McGann, Grossmont College Christopher McIntosh, University of Minnesota, Duluth Craig McLaren, University of California, Riverside Shah Mehrabi, Montgomery College Mark Melichar, Tennessee Technical University Diego Mendez-Carbajo, Illinois Wesleyan University Evelina Mengova, California State University, Fullerton William G. Mertens, University of Colorado, Boulder Charles Meyrick, Housatonic Community College Frannie Miller, Texas A&M University Laurie Miller, University of Nebraska, Lincoln Ida Mirzaie, The Ohio State University Kaustav Misra, Saginaw Valley State University Kara Mitchell, Belmont University Michael A. Mogavero, University of Notre Dame Mehdi Mohaghegh, Norwich University Moon Moon Haque, University of Memphis Sheena Murray, University of Colorado, Boulder Yolunda Nabors, Tennessee Technical University

#### **xlviii** / Acknowledgments

University

Max Nagiel, Daytona State University Mijid Naranchimeg, Central Connecticut State University Mike Nelson. Oregon State University Gibson Nene, University of Minnesota, Duluth Boris Nikolaev, University of South Florida Jasminka, Ninkovic, Emory University Caroline Noblet, University of Maine Daniel Norgard, Normandale Community College Stephen Norman, University of Washington, Tacoma Grace O, Georgia State University Ichiro Obara, University of California, Los Angeles Fola Odebunmi, Cypress College Vincent Odock, State University of New York, Orange Lee Ohanian, University of California, Los Angeles Paul Okello, Tarrant County College Gregory Okoro, Georgia Perimeter College, Clarkston Campus

Ifeakandu Okoye, Florida A&M University Neal Olitsky, University of Massachusetts, Dartmouth Martha Olney, University of California, Berkeley EeCheng Ong, National University of Singapore Stephen Onyeiwu, Allegheny College Sandra Orozco-Aleman, Mississippi State University Lynda Marie Ortega, Saint Phillip's College Stephanie Owings, Fort Lewis College Caroline Padgett, Francis Marion University Jennifer Pakula, Saddleback College Kerry Pannell, DePauw University Pete Parcells, Whitman College Darshak Patel, University of Kentucky R. Scott Pearson, Charleston Southern University Jodi Pelkowski, Wichita State University Faye Peng, University of Wisconsin, Richland Erica Perdue, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State

Andrew Perumal, University of Massachusetts, Boston Brian Peterson, Central College Dorothy Peterson, Washington University Michael Petrowsky, Austin Community College Rinaldo Pietrantonio, West Virginia University Van T.H. Pham, Salem State University Inna Pomorina, Bath Spa University Steve Price, Butte College Irina Pritchett, North Carolina State University Guangjun Qu, Birmingham—Southern College Gabriela Quevado, Hillsborough Community College Sarah Quintanar, University of Arkansas at Little Rock Aleksander Radisich, Glendale Community College Tobi Ragan, San Jose State University Mona Ray, Morehouse College Ranajoy Ray-Chaudhuri, The Ohio State University Mitchell Redlo, Monroe Community College Ann Rhoads, Delaware State University Jennifer Rhoads, St. Catharine University Samual Riewe, Sonoma State University Matthew Rolnick, City College of New York Leanne Roncolato, American University Debasis Rooj, Northern Illinois University Brian Rosario, American River College Ildiko Roth, North Idaho College

Matthew Rousu, Susquehanna University Jason Rudbeck. University of Georgia Nicholas G. Rupp, East Carolina University Anne-Marie Ryan-Guest, Normandale Community College Martin Sabo, Community College of Denver Hilary Sackett, Westfield State University Shrawantee Saha, College of St. Benedict Ravi Samitamana, Daytona State College Rolando Sanchez, Northwest Vista College Jeff Sarbaum, University of North Carolina, Greensboro Naveen Sarna, Northern Virginia Community College Supriya Sarnikar, Westfield State University Noriaki Sasaki, McHenry County College Thomas Scheiding, Cardinal Stritch Community Collge Douglas Schneiderheinze, Lewis & Clark Community College Jessica Schuring, Central College Robert Schwab, University of Maryland James Self, Indiana University, Bloomington Sean Severe, Drake University Sheikh Shahnawaz, California State University, Chico Gina Shamshak, Goucher College Neil Sheflin, Rutgers University Brandon Sheridan, North Central College Dorothy R. Siden, Salem State College Cheri Sides, Lane College Joe Silverman, Mira Costa College Scott Simkins, North Carolina A&T State University Robert Simonson, Minnesota State University, Mankato Brian Sloboda, University of Phoenix Gordon Smith, Anderson University John Solow, University of Iowa Robert Sonora, Fort Lewis Collge Todd Sorensen, University of California, Riverside Maria Sorokina, West Virginia University Christian Spielman. University College London Denise Stanley, California State University, Fullerton Leticia Starkov, Elgin Community College Kalina Staub, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill Rebecca Stein, University of Pennsylvania Joe Stenard, Hudson Valley Community College Heather Stephens, California State University, Long Beach Liliana Stern, Auburn University Joshua Stillwagon, University of New Hampshire Burak Sungu, Miami University Paul Suozzo, Centralia College David Switzer, St. Cloud Sate University Vera Tabakova, East Carolina University Ariuna Taivan, University of Minnesota, Duluth Yuan Emily Tang, University of California, San Diego Anna Terzyan, Loyola Marymount University David Thomas, Ball State University Henry Thompson, Auburn University James Tierney, Pennsylvania State University Aleksander Tomic, Macon State College Suzanne Toney, Savannah State University Mehmet Tosun, University of Nevada, Reno Steve Trost, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University

Mark Trueman, Macomb College Nora Underwood, University of Central Florida Gergory B. Upton, Jr., Louisiana State University Mike Urbancic, University of Oregon Jesus Valencia, Slipperv Rock University Robert Van Horn, University of Rhode Island Adel Varghese, Texas A&M University Marieta Velikova, Belmont University Tatsuma Wada. Wavne State University Jaime Wagner, University of Nebraska, Lincoln Will Walsh, Samford University Yongqing Wang, University of Wisconsin, Waukesha Thomas White, Assumption College Johnathan Wight, University of Richmond Eric WIllbrandt, Auburn University Nick Williams, University of Cincinnati

Douglas Wills, University of Washington, Tacoma Ann Wimmer, Iowa Lakes Community College Kafu Wong, University of Hong Kong Kelvin Wong, University of Minnesota Ken Woodward, Saddleback College Jadrian Wooten, Washington State University Ranita Wyatt, Paso-Hernando State College Anne York, Meredith College Han Yu. Southern Connecticut State University Kristen Zaborski, State College of Florida Arindra Zainal, Oregon State University Erik Zemljic, Kent State University Tianwei Zhang, University of Georgia Ying Zhen, Wesleyan College Dmytro Zhosan, Glendale Community College Kent Zirlott, University of Alabama

All of the individuals listed above helped us to improve the text and ancillaries, for the first and second editions but a smaller group of them offered us extraordinary insight and support. They went above and beyond, and we would like them to know just how much we appreciate it. In particular, we want to recognize Alicia Baik (University of Virginia), Jodi Beggs (Northeastern University), Dave Brown (Penn State University), Jennings Byrd (Troy University), Douglas Campbell (University of Memphis), Shelby Frost (Georgia State University), Wayne Geerling (Penn State University), Paul Graf (Indiana University), Oskar Harmon (University of Connecticut), Jill Hayter (East Tennessee State University), John Hilston (Brevard Community College), Kim Holder (University of West Georgia), Todd Knoop (Cornell College), Katie Kontak (Bowling Green State University), Brendan LaCerda (University of Virginia), Paul Larson (University of Delaware), Lucy Malakar (Lorain County Community College), Ida Mirzaie (Ohio State University), Charles Newton (Houston Community College), Boris Nikolaev (University of South Florida), J. Brian O'Roark (Robert Morris University), Andrew Perumal (University of Massachusetts, Boston), Irina Pritchett (North Carolina State University), Matt Rousu (Susquehanna College), Tom Scheiding (Cardinal Stritch University), Brandon Sheridan (North Central College), Clair Smith (Saint John Fisher College), James Tierney (Penn State University), Nora Underwood (University of Central Florida), Joseph Whitman (University of Florida), Erik Zemljic (Kent State University), and Zhou Zhang (University of Virginia).

We would also like to thank our partners at W. W. Norton & Company, on both the first and the second edition who have been as committed to this text as we've been. They have been a pleasure to work with and we hope that we get to work together for many years. We like to call them Team Econ: Melissa Atkin, Hannah Bachman, Jack Borrebach, Miryam Chandler, Cassie del Pilar, Sam Glass, John Kresse, Pete Lesser, Sasha Levitt, Lindsey Osteen, Eric Pier-Hocking, Jack Repcheck, Victoria Reuter, Spencer Richardson-Jones, Carson Russell, Nicole Sawa, Eric Svendsen, Janise Turso, and Stefani Wallace. Our development editors, Becky Kohn and Steve Riglosi were a big help, as were our copy editors, Alice Vigliani and Janet Greenblatt. The visual appeal of the book is the result of our photo researchers, Dena Digilio Betz and Nelson Colón, and the design teams at W.W. Norton and Kiss Me I'm Polish: Tiani Kennedy, Rubina Yeh, Agnieszka Gasparska, Andrew Janik, and Annie Song. Finally, we would like to thank Kailyn Amos for the help she provided generating photo ideas in this edition. Thanks to all.

### **ABOUT THE AUTHORS**



**Dirk Mateer** is the Gerald J. Swanson Chair in Economic Education at the University of Arizona. His research has appeared in the *Journal of Economic Education* as well as other journals and focuses on media-enriched learning. He is the author of *Economics in the Movies* (2005) and is an award-winning instructor. He has been featured in the "Great Teachers in Economics" series and he was also the inaugural winner of the Economic Communicator Contest sponsored by the Association of Private Enterprise Education. While he was at Penn State, he received the George W. Atherton Award, the university's highest teaching award, and was voted the best overall teacher in the Smeal College of Business by the readers of *Critique Magazine*. Now at Arizona, he received the best large class lecture award in the Eller College of Management.

**Lee Coppock** is Associate Professor in the Economics Department at the University of Virginia. He has been teaching principles of economics for over twenty years, specializing in principles of macroeconomics. Before moving to UVA, he spent 9 years at Hillsdale College, where he learned how to reach college students. At UVA, Lee teaches two large sections (500+) of macro principles each spring. He has received teaching awards at both Hillsdale College and UVA. Lee lives in Charlottesville with his wife Krista and their four children: Bethany, Lee III, Kara, and Jackson.

**Second Edition** 



# INTRODUCTION

PART



CHAPTER

# Five Foundations of Economics

### **Economics is the dismal science.**

Perhaps you have heard of the "dismal science"? This derogatory description of economics was first used by historian and essay-

**SCONCEPTION** ist Thomas Carlyle in the nineteenth century. He called economics the dismal science after economist Thomas Malthus predicted that population growth combined with the

planet's limited resources would ultimately lead to widespread starvation.

Malthus was a respected thinker, but he was unduly pessimistic. The world population was 1 billion in 1800, and it is over 7 billion today. One of the things that Malthus did not take into account was increases in technology and productivity. Today, the efficiency of agricultural production enables more than 7 billion people to live on this planet. Far from being the dismal science, economics in the twenty-first century is a vital social science that helps world leaders improve their citizens' lives.

This textbook provides the tools you need to make your own assessments about the economy. What other discipline helps you discover how the world works, how to be an informed citizen, and how to live your life to the fullest? Economics can improve your understanding of the stock market and help you make better decisions. If you are concerned about Social Security, this textbook explains how it works. If you are interested in learning more about the economics of health care and some of the challenges it faces, the answers are here.

In this chapter, you will learn about five foundations of economics incentives, trade-offs, opportunity cost, marginal thinking, and the principle that trade creates value. You will find that many of the more complex problems presented later in the text are based on these



Predicting the future is a tough business.

foundations, either singly or in combination. Think of this chapter as a road map that provides a broad overview of your first journey into economics. Let's get started!



- \* What is economics?
- \* What are five foundations of economics?

### What Is Economics?

Economists study how decisions are made. Examples of economic decisions include whether you should buy or lease a car, sublet your apartment, or buy that Gibson guitar you've been eyeing. And just as individuals must choose what to buy within the limits of their income, society as a whole must determine what to produce from its limited set of resources.

Of course, life would be a lot easier if we could have whatever we wanted whenever we wanted it. Unfortunately, life does not work that way. Our wants and needs are nearly unlimited, but the resources available to satisfy these wants and needs are always limited. The term used to describe the limited nature of society's resources is **scarcity**. Even the most abundant resources, like the water we drink and the air we breathe, are not always abundant enough everywhere to meet the wants and needs of every person. So how do individuals and societies make decisions about scarce resources? This is the basic question economists seek to answer. **Economics** is the study of how individuals and societies allocate their limited resources to satisfy their nearly unlimited wants.

Scarcity refers to the limited nature of society's resources, given society's unlimited wants and needs.

**Economics** is the study of how individuals and societies allocate their limited resources to satisfy their nearly unlimited wants.



Water is scarce . . .



... and so are diamonds!

### **Microeconomics and Macroeconomics**

The study of economics is divided into two subfields: microeconomics and macroeconomics. Microeconomics is the study of the individual units that make up the economy, such as households and businesses. Macroeconomics is the study of the overall aspects and workings of an economy, such as inflation (an overall increase in prices), growth, employment, interest rates, and the productivity of the economy as a whole. To understand the difference, consider a worker who gets laid off and becomes unemployed. Is this an issue that would be addressed in microeconomics or macroeconomics? The question seems to fit parts of both definitions. The worker is an individual, which is micro, but employment is one of the broad areas of concern for the economy as a whole, which is macro. However, because only one worker is laid off, this is a micro issue. If many workers were laid off and the result was a higher unemployment rate across the entire economy, the issue would be broad enough to be studied by macroeconomists. However, macroeconomics is more than just an aggregation of microeconomics. Macroeconomists examine, among other things, government policies regarding the federal budget and money supply, the reasons for inflation and unemployment, economic growth, international trade, and government borrowing-topics that are too complex to be understood using only microeconomic analysis.

# What Are Five Foundations of Economics?

The study of economics can be complicated, but we can make it very accessible by breaking it down into a set of component parts. The five foundations presented here are key components of economics. They are a bit like the natural laws of physics or chemistry. Almost every economic subject can be analyzed through the prism of one of these foundations. By mastering the five foundations, you will be on your way to succeeding in this course and thinking like an economist.

The five foundations of economics are:

- Incentives
- Trade-offs
- Opportunity cost
- Marginal thinking
- The principle that trade creates value

Each of these five foundations reappears throughout the book and enables you to solve complex problems. Every time you encounter one of the five concepts, you will see an icon of a house in the margin. As you become more adept at economic analysis, you will often use two or more of these foundational ideas to understand the economic world around you.

### Incentives

When you are faced with making a decision, you usually make the choice that you think will most improve your situation. In making your decision,

**Microeconomics** is the study of the individual units that make up the economy.

**Macroeconomics** is the study of the overall aspects and workings of an economy.





### PRACTICE WHAT YOU KNOW



This mosaic of the flag illustrates the difference between micro and macro. The small-sized pictures represent microeconomics and the roles that individual decisions play in the overall health of the economy, which is the composite we see when we look at the entire picture.

### Microeconomics and Macroeconomics: The Big Picture

Identify whether each of the following statements identifies a microeconomic issue or a macroeconomic issue.

The national savings rate is less than 2% of income.

**Answer:** The national savings rate is a statistic based on the average amount each household saves as a percentage of income. As such, it is a broad measure of savings that describes a macroeconomic issue.

Jim was laid off from his job and is currently unemployed.

**Answer:** Jim's personal financial circumstances constitute a microeconomic issue.

Apple decides to open 100 new stores.

**Answer:** Even though Apple is a very large corporation and 100 new stores will create many new jobs, Apple's decision is a microeconomic issue because it is best understood as part of an individual firm's competitive strategy.

The government passes a jobs bill designed to stabilize the economy during a recession (an economic downturn).

**Answer:** You might be tempted to ask how many jobs are created, but that information is not relevant to answering this question. The key part of the statement refers to "stabiliz[ing] the economy during a recession," which is an example of the government taking an active role in managing the overall workings of the economy. Therefore, it is a macroeconomic issue.

**Incentives** are factors that motivate a person to act or exert effort.

you respond to **incentives**—factors that motivate you to act or exert effort. For example, your choice to study for an exam you have tomorrow instead of spending the evening with your friends is based on your belief that doing well on the exam will provide a greater benefit. You have an incentive to study because you know that an A in the course will raise your grade-point average and make you a more attractive candidate on the job market when you are finished with school. We can further divide incentives into two paired categories: positive and negative and direct and indirect.

### **Positive and Negative Incentives**

*Positive incentives* encourage action by offering rewards or payments. For example, end-of-year bonuses motivate employees to work hard throughout the year, higher oil prices cause suppliers to extract more oil, and tax rebates encourage citizens to spend more money. *Negative incentives* discourage action by providing undesirable consequences or punishments. For instance, the fear of receiving a speeding ticket keeps motorists from driving too fast, higher oil prices might spur some consumers to use less oil, and the dread of a trip to the dentist motivates people to brush their teeth regularly. In each case, we see that incentives spur individuals to action.

Conventional wisdom tells us that "learning is its own reward," but try telling that to most students. Teachers are aware that incentives, both positive and negative, create additional interest among their students to learn the course material. Positive incentives include bonus points, gold stars, public praise, and extra credit. Many students respond to these encouragements by studying more. However, positive incentives are not enough. Suppose that your instructor never gave any grade lower than an A. Your incentive to participate actively in the course, do assignments, or earn bonus points would be small. For positive incentives to work, they generally need to be coupled with negative incentives. This is why instructors require students to complete assignments, take exams, and write papers. Students know that if they do not complete these requirements, they will get a lower grade, perhaps even fail the class.

### **Direct and Indirect Incentives**

Incentives can also be direct or indirect. For instance, if one gas station lowers its prices, it most likely will get business from customers who would

not usually stop there. This is a *direct incentive*. Lower gasoline prices also work as an *indirect incentive*, because lower prices might encourage consumers to use more gas.

Direct incentives are easy to recognize. "Cut my grass and I'll pay you \$30" is an example of a direct incentive. Indirect incentives are more difficult to recognize. But learning to recognize them is one of the keys to mastering economics. For instance, consider the indirect incentives at work in welfare programs. Almost everyone agrees that societies should provide a safety net for those without employment or whose income isn't enough to meet their basic needs. In other words, a society has a direct incentive to alleviate suffering caused by poverty. But how does a society provide this safety net without taking away the incentive to work? If the amount of welfare a person receives is higher than the amount that person can hope to make from a job, the welfare recipient might decide to stay on welfare rather than go to work. The indirect incentive to stay on welfare creates an unin*tended consequence*: people who were supposed to use



Public assistance: a hand in time of need or an incentive not to work?